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ToDAy, we SeRve MANy oF The
woRLD’S MoST SuCCeSSFuL
CoMpANIeS IN LIFe SCIeNCeS,
eNeRgy, TRANSpoRTATIoN,
CoNSuMeR pRoDuCTS,
AND eLeCTRoNICS.
we leverage the insights and best practices between all of the markets we serve to enhance our competitive edge, and
create value for all stakeholders, including our customers and shareholders. At ATS, our track record of innovation and
passion for excellence sets us apart as the world’s leader in automation. whether customers use ATS to build custom
automation globally or take advantage of our contract equipment manufacturing, we have the scale and resources to
reduce costs and speed time to market.
Founded in 1978, ATS is listed on the Toronto Stock exchange under the symbol ATA. visit our website at
www.atsautomation.com for more information.
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LIFE SCIENCES
over the years, we have brought more than 3,000 unique life
sciences automation projects to market.
Medical Devices: with proven know-how in molding, assembly,
functional testing and validation, we assist medical and device
manufacturers in every phase of production.
Pharmaceuticals: our extensive experience includes clean room
environment automation used to manufacture, dispense, and
fulﬁll orders for pharmaceuticals and vaccines.
Diagnostics: we design and build systems for high-volume
manufacturing of diagnostic devices, including DNA microarrays
and bio-sensors, to meet strict safety regulations.

CONSUMER
PRODUCTS &
ELECTRONICS
we serve global consumer products and electronics markets with
a full range of automation platforms that meet aggressive
product launch schedules and maintain consistent quality, from
the ﬁrst unit of production to the last – and millions in between.
Electronics: we provide a single source for engineering,
manufacturing and integration of automated, custom process
solutions for the electronics market, including handheld
electronics, display technologies, and computer electronics.
Consumer Products: we build automated assembly,
in-process testing and packaging systems that deliver the perfect
ﬁt and ﬁnish for leading brand name consumer products, ranging
from household appliances to personal care items.
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TRANSPORTATION
Bringing thousands of complex transportation automation
projects to market has helped us to develop an extensive range of
technology and experience.
Conventional: From brakes to steering, exteriors to exhaust
systems, instrument panels to winding systems, we have
amassed substantial experience in creating ﬂawless automation
solutions for traditional vehicle and heavy equipment parts.
Hybrid: our expertise in motor, drive train and electronics
assembly is the perfect complement to automation projects in
the hybrid vehicle space.
Electric: our involvement in advancing industry-leading
platforms like the Chevrolet volt, an extended range electric
vehicle, is just one example of how we stay ahead of the curve on
transportation automation.

ENERGY
Battery: with energy storage growing in importance, ATS experts
are working closely with industry leaders to develop
manufacturing systems that excel.
Nuclear: over the past 15 years, the nuclear industry has relied
on ATS to be a trusted supplier of precise, reliable and safe
automated solutions. having worked on more than 100 nuclear
refurbishment projects, we have devoted more than 360,000
hours to the design, prototyping and manufacture of critical tools
accompanied by in-facility deployment and supervision.
Oil & Gas: As fossil fuel harvesting grows more challenging, ATS
is helping to deliver high performance manufacturing systems
that make new technologies a reality.
Solar: we are pioneers in the solar automation market, helping
customers lower their cost per watt and boost efficiencies during
the launch and subsequent production of thin ﬁlm, crystalline
and thermal technologies.
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CONTRACT
EQUIPMENT
MANUFACTURING
As a strategic partner to the world’s leading oeMs, ATS offers
diverse expertise in developing equipment manufacturing and
high-level assembly programs that reduce costs and speed
time-to-market for our customers.
Scalable Programs: having delivered thousands of machines to
our customers, ATS has developed scalable business processes
and infrastructure. Regardless if the need is 100 or 1,000
systems, we have consistently demonstrated our ability to
outperform.
Cost Reduction: whether we leverage value analysis/value
engineering skills to ﬁnd savings opportunities, or proactively
manage our supply chain and low-cost country sourcing, ATS
brings cost reductions to our customers to improve their
proﬁtability.
Quality Production: our customers' products need to perform
ﬂawlessly. we have the business process discipline to make it
happen. From detailed work instructions to extensive reliability
testing protocols, ATS manufactures a ﬁnished product that
delivers.
Value Analysis and Value Engineering: we perform thorough
value analysis and value engineering throughout the lifecycle of
all projects. our business processes have been developed to be
ﬂexible enough to respond rapidly to any design and
conﬁguration changes. So our customers can achieve signiﬁcant
cost savings with every generation of equipment we build.
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TECHNOLOGY &
PRODUCTS
our extensive knowledge base, proprietary automation
technology and product portfolio give us the ability to meet more
of our customers’ requirements.
Conveyors: The ATS Supertrak™ conveyor system is a revolution
in high-speed pallet transport that delivers greater capability and
ﬂexibility, optimum performance, and overall higher return on
automation investments.
The ATS850™ clean room conveyor provides high reliability,
cleanliness, and electro static discharge control. The conveyor
readily serves manufacturers of semiconductors, pharmaceuticals,
medical devices, and any manufacturer working in a clean room
environment.
Feeders: The sortimat family of feeder technology includes
vibratory bowls, step feeders, drum feeders and a range of
accessories from belt hoppers to elevators – all designed to sort,
transport, and separate parts entering an assembly process.
when combined into a turnkey system, the sortimat Birkman™
feeder is formed providing a complete part feeding solution.

Lyoscan high-speed vision inspection system.

Handling: where small parts cannot be fed in bulk to an assembly
process, the sortimat Clearliner™ tray handling system is
designed to meet the challenges of rapidly and precisely feeding
parts in class 10,000 clean rooms. To serve manufacturers
working in less stringent environments, the newly launched
sortimat workliner™ tray handler has been developed for markets
such as automotive, industrial and consumer products.
Vision: The ATS Cortex™ vision system is an all-in-one vision
system powered by ATS Smartvision™ software. This integrated
hardware/software vision system has been designed to reduce
integration time, while providing ease of use and high
performance. The platform interfaces with all industry standard
pLCs, lighting hardware, and vision cameras, providing an
extremely ﬂexible system to perform high-precision part and
defect identiﬁcation, measurement, sorting, and robotic guidance.
Lasers: The ATS Flexsys™ Laser delivers high quality,
reproducible laser processing in automated assembly lines. The
system provides maximum ﬂexibility through conﬁgurable power,
pulse length, wavelength, spot size and working area. whether
using lasers for part marking, welding, or micromachining, ATS
has the breadth of experience to deliver sophisticated laser
processing systems.
high-accuracy laser processing system.
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PRE AUTOMATION
SOLUTIONS
when our customers need to clearly deﬁne their manufacturing
strategy, our pre automation solutions group is available to fully
explore options and provide an objective analysis that evaluates,
values and veriﬁes potential manufacturing solutions before arriving
at an integrated recommendation. The result is a thorough business
case that predicts outcomes and substantiates customers’ strategic
investments before they are made.
our toolkit includes process mapping, process risk assessment,
process effectiveness calculations, total cost of ownership
evaluation, simulation, and the creation of 3D animations and
technical drawings required to convey manufacturing concepts.
our team of veteran professionals from different industry
disciplines is also experienced in cgMp, quality planning, and
validation for pharmaceuticals, oTC, medical devices and
combination products.

POST AUTOMATION
SOLUTIONS
The strong loyalty of ATS customers is not just a result of the
innovative systems we build, but of our commitment to provide
world-class service and technical support that allows our
customers to take their equipment performance to the next level.
Enhancing Equipment Productivity: our services have been
speciﬁcally developed to overcome the traditional equipment lifecycle events that tend to erode productivity. our goal is simple:
we want to partner with ATS customers for the long term so they
can lower their lifecycle costs and get the most from their
automation investment.
Taking a Modular Approach: Training and mentoring customer
staff. Fine-tuning equipment to maximize productivity and
performance. Responding rapidly to time critical situations. No
matter what our customers need, ATS has the resources and
infrastructure to bundle services into a package that will meet
their needs now and into the future.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Fellow Shareholders:
Fiscal 2012 was an important year in ATS’s development. we
achieved a number of signiﬁcant milestones including the
integration of two acquisitions into our Automation Systems
group (“ASg”), divesting of our european solar business, and
proﬁtable growth from our core business.
you may recall that in ﬁscal 2009, we implemented a threestep plan: (1) ﬁx the business (improve existing operations,
gain operating control and earn credibility); (2) separate solar
(create a standalone ASg business, monetize non-core assets
and strengthen the balance sheet); and (3) grow (both
organically and through acquisition).
we ﬁxed the base ASg business by making major changes
and improvements including: strengthening management
and leadership; rolling-out best practices to all divisions;
consolidating under-performing and non-strategic divisions;
strengthening our supply chain; and improving our approach
to market.
The acquisitions of Sortimat – a leader in advanced system
development, manufacturing, handling and feeder
technologies for life sciences in June 2010; and the majority
of Assembly & Test worldwide’s (“ATw”) u.S.-based and
german automation and test systems businesses, provided
us with the critical mass in life sciences and transportation
markets respectively, to align our divisions into groups
focused on these markets. we are now leveraging the
specialized capabilities of these groups to deliver
differentiating solutions to these markets.
we separated photowatt France (“pwF”), and are monetizing
other non-core assets. As a result we have strengthened the
balance sheet and substantially created a standalone ASg
business.
we are now focused on our core business, a market leader
with a solid operational and ﬁnancial foundation that is
positioned to grow organically and through acquisition.
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Chief executive officer

“our core business is robust
and growing. we have the
demonstrated ability to
engage customers on an
enterprise basis, select and
integrate acquisitions, and
remain resilient in the face of
difficult economic conditions.”

ATS Automation Annual Report 2012

Fiscal 2012 Highlights

our results were strong:

ASg’s performance reﬂected the actions taken over the
past few years to ﬁx operations and generate growth.
During the year, we continued to strengthen our sales
organization, reﬁne and advance front-end-of-the-business
processes, engage on a key account basis and increase
program-type orders. our ability to engage with customers
on enterprise solutions has become a key differentiator for
ATS. over time, we expect our approach to market to drive
attractive growth, despite the short-term variability we may
see in order Bookings from quarter to quarter.

•

we continued to build our Life Sciences and
Transportation segments, both of which drove strong
order Bookings in ﬁscal 2012, resulting in a 30%
increase in overall order Bookings over the prior year;

•

growth in order Bookings drove improved revenues
in our continuing ASg business in ﬁscal 2012 which
increased by 23% over the prior year;

•

we improved our proﬁtability, with eBIT margins (net
earnings before interest and taxes) increasing to 10%
in ﬁscal 2012 from 7% in the prior year;

The actions and initiatives we undertook to strengthen our
base ASg business were repeated when we acquired
Sortimat and ATw. These acquired businesses have now
been integrated into our business processes and structure
and both businesses recorded improved operating metrics
and ﬁnancial results.

•

we ended the year with record high order Backlog
at $382 million, a 29% increase over the prior year;

•

our balance sheet is strong. As of March 31, 2012 cash
net of debt was $93.3 million and we had unutilized
credit facilities of $51.7 million available under existing
credit facilities and another $24.1 million available under
letter of credit facilities.

overall, ASg has a sound operational and ﬁnancial
foundation to advance the growth phase of our strategy.
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During the year, we effected the separation of pwF and
initiated a formal sale process for our ontario solar
business (“ontario Solar”).

ATS’s investment in pwF was deconsolidated from the
Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements effective
November 8, 2011 and the results of our solar operations
(inclusive of ontario Solar) are presented as “discontinued
operations” for accounting purposes.

on February 27, 2012, a subsidiary of the eDF group, the
French electricity utility, was selected by the French
bankruptcy court to purchase the assets of pwF. pwF’s
workforce was subsequently transferred to the purchaser
or offered to be transferred within the purchaser’s group.
effective March 1, 2012, the purchaser assumed control
over the operations of pwF.

Separation is an important strategic step in our value
creation plan. our solar and automation businesses have
different value creation models and capital requirements.
Separation will enhance long-term value by providing each
enterprise with the opportunity and focus to achieve greater
success by pursuing independent objectives and strategies
best suited to its unique assets and business plan.

Solar Separation

we also received a number of non-binding indicative offers
from potential purchasers of ontario Solar. we are working
with interested parties to conclude a transaction.

EBIT Margins from Continuing Operations1
(% of revenue)

Cash, Net of Debt1
($ millions)
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Fiscal 2012 and 2011 results are reported under IFRS. Fiscal 2010 and prior periods are under Canadian gAAp. Results have been reclassiﬁed to present Solar as discontinued operations.
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Going Forward
going forward, our plan is to grow, expand and scale our business.
grow means advancing our approach to market with a view to continuing to move from building one-off machines to
programs to enterprise solutions. As an industry leader, we believe we can increase value by engaging holistically with
customers to offer complete solutions which are priced based on the value and outcome achieved.
expand means adding to our offering in the areas of services (pre automation and post automation), selected products
as well as entering new markets.
Scale means leveraging our demonstrated ability to acquire and improve businesses, and taking advantage of a
fragmented industry. we are targeting companies based on their ability to bring market or technology leadership, scale
or opportunity, whether in market segments we currently serve, or in new segments that have attractive characteristics,
such as onerous regulations, high barriers to entry, time-critical requirements, and negative consequences for nondelivery. we have allocated considerable corporate resources to scale-based activity. we have a strong balance sheet
to work with and have engaged in discussions with lenders who are supportive of our growth plans.
while we are cognizant of the evolving economic situation in europe and the potential negative impact this could have
on our business, I am conﬁdent that we have the appropriate ﬂexibility and business processes to mitigate potential
impacts and we have the plan and balance sheet to take advantage of potential opportunities that may arise.
Summary
In summary, we made important strategic advancements in ﬁscal 2012: pwF has been separated; separation of our
ontario Solar business is proceeding; and, we are now focused on our core ASg business.
our core business is robust and growing. we have the demonstrated ability to engage customers on an enterprise basis,
select and integrate acquisitions, and remain resilient in the face of difficult economic conditions.
As we move forward, I would like to thank my colleagues for their continued hard work and dedication. ATS is a
knowledge-based business and we have some of the best and brightest people, whose enthusiasm and commitment
to creating value is evidenced by the loyal, repeat customer base that we serve.
I look forward to our continued success together.

Anthony Caputo
Chief executive officer
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

This Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A“) for the year ended March 31, 2012 (ﬁscal 2012) is as of May 23, 2012
and provides information on the operating activities, performance and ﬁnancial position of ATS Automation Tooling Systems
Inc. (“ATS” or the “Company”) and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the
Company for ﬁscal 2012 which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and are reported in Canadian dollars. Additional information is contained in the Company’s ﬁlings with Canadian securities
regulators, including its Annual Information Form, found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the Company’s website at
www.atsautomation.com.
Notice to Reader: Non-IFRS Measures
Throughout this document the term “operating earnings” is used to denote earnings (loss) from operations. EBITDA is also
used and is deﬁned as earnings (loss) from operations excluding depreciation and amortization (which includes
amortization of intangible assets). The term “margin” refers to an amount as a percentage of revenue. The terms “earnings
(loss) from operations”, “operating earnings”, ”margin”, “operating loss”, “operating results”, “operating margin”, “EBITDA”,
“Order Bookings” and “Order Backlog” do not have any standardized meaning prescribed within IFRS and therefore may not
be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Operating earnings and EBITDA are some of the
measures the Company uses to evaluate the performance of its segments. Management believes that ATS shareholders
and potential investors in ATS use non-IFRS ﬁnancial measures such as operating earnings and EBITDA in making
investment decisions and measuring operational results. A reconciliation of operating earnings and EBITDA to net income
from continuing operations for the years ending March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 is contained in this MD&A (See
“Reconciliation of EBITDA to IFRS Measures”). EBITDA should not be construed as a substitute for net income determined
in accordance with IFRS.
Order Bookings represent new orders for the supply of automation systems that management believes are ﬁrm. Order
Backlog is the estimated unearned portion of ASG revenue on customer contracts that are in process and have not been
completed at the speciﬁed date. A reconciliation of Order Bookings and Order Backlog to total Company revenues for the
years ending March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 is contained in the MD&A (See “ASG Order Backlog Continuity”).

Company Proﬁle
The Company operates in two segments: Automation Systems Group (“ASG”), the Company’s continuing operations, and
Solar, which is classiﬁed as discontinued operations. Through ASG, ATS provides innovative, custom designed, built and
installed manufacturing solutions to many of the world's most successful companies. Founded in 1978, ATS uses its
industry leading knowledge and global capabilities to serve the sophisticated automation systems' needs of multinational
customers in industries such as life sciences, computer/electronics, energy, transportation and consumer products. ATS
also leverages its many years of experience and skills to fulﬁll the specialized automation product manufacturing
requirements of customers. Through its Ontario solar business, ATS participates in the solar energy industry. ATS employs
approximately 2,400 people at 20 manufacturing facilities in Canada, the United States, Europe, Southeast Asia and China.
VAlue CReAtIoN StRAtegy
To drive value creation, the Company implemented a three-phase strategic plan: (1) ﬁx the business (improve the existing
operations, gain operating control of the business and earn credibility); (2) separate the businesses (create a standalone
ASG business, monetize non-core assets and strengthen the balance sheet); and (3) grow (both organically and through
acquisition).
Solar Separation
During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan designed to implement the
separation of Solar from ATS via a dual-track process involving either a spinoff of the Company’s combined solar
businesses or a sale of Photowatt International S.A.S. (“Photowatt France” or “PWF”) and/or the Ontario solar business
(“Ontario Solar”). Discussions with parties in regards to a sale of PWF concluded without producing an acceptable
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

transaction. The deterioration of economic conditions and the solar market in Europe in ﬁscal 2012, increased Asian
competition and lower demand for solar products (particularly in France) severely impacted PWF. Consequently, the
Company re-examined the spinoff alternative and concluded it was not viable. Other options in relation to PWF were also
exhausted and given the aforementioned conditions; PWF’s ﬁling for bankruptcy became necessary. On November 8, 2011
(the “Bankruptcy Date”), the French bankruptcy court placed PWF into a “recovery” proceeding (“redressement judiciaire”)
under the supervision of a court appointed trustee.
The Company concluded that it ceased to have the ability to exert control over PWF as of the Bankruptcy Date. Accordingly,
the Company’s investment in PWF was deconsolidated from the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements beginning on
the Bankruptcy Date. Management reduced the carrying value of the Company’s equity investment in PWF to be zero. The
results of PWF up to the Bankruptcy Date are presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
income. On February 27, 2012, a subsidiary of the EDF group, the French electricity utility, was selected by the French
bankruptcy court to purchase the assets of PWF. The entire workforce of PWF was subsequently transferred to the
purchaser or offered to be transferred within the purchaser’s group. Effective March 1, 2012, the purchaser assumed control
over the operations of PWF. The conﬁrmation of a new operator for the PWF business concluded ATS’s operating support of
PWF. As is customary in France, the purchaser and the court appointed trustee were granted a period of time (ending in
June, 2012) to ﬁnalize the purchase agreements relating to the PWF assets. These agreements, which will complete the
transfer of the legal ownership of those assets, are still being ﬁnalized.
In ﬁscal 2012, the Company initiated a formal sale process for the Ontario Solar business. The Company has received a
number of non-binding indicative offers for the Ontario Solar business and is working with the interested parties with a view
to concluding a transaction. Ontario Solar is presented as assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in
the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position and as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income.
As a result, ATS’s continuing operations are reported as one operating segment, ASG.
growth
To further the Company’s growth strategy, ASG will continue to target providing value-based, complete automation
program solutions for customers built on differentiating technological solutions, value of customer outcomes achieved and
global capability. The Company is also committed to growth through acquisition and has an organizational structure,
business processes and the experience to successfully integrate companies into ASG. Acquisition opportunities are
targeted and evaluated on their ability to bring ATS market or technology leadership, scale and/or an opportunity brought
on by the economic environment. For each of ASG’s markets, the Company has analyzed the capability value chain and
made a grow, team or acquire decision. Financially, targets are reviewed on a number of criteria including their potential to
add accretive earnings to current operations.
Business Acquisitions
In ﬁscal 2011 management completed two acquisitions.
Sortimat Group
On June 1, 2010, ATS completed its acquisition of 100% of Sortimat Group (“Sortimat”). Sortimat is a manufacturer of
assembly systems for the life sciences market. Established in 1959, Sortimat has locations in Germany, Chicago and India.
Sortimat’s integration into the Company’s ASG segment is complete.
The Sortimat acquisition aligned with ATS’s strategy of expanding its position in the global automation market and
enhancing growth opportunities, particularly in strategic markets such as life sciences. The Company beneﬁts from
Sortimat’s products and signiﬁcant experience in advanced system development, manufacturing, handling, and feeder
technologies. This acquisition provided ATS with the scale required to further organize its marketing and divisions into a
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

group focused on life sciences, with the objective to grow the Company’s exposure to this market segment and help
customers differentiate themselves from their competitors. To integrate Sortimat and effect margin improvements, the
Company deployed people to apply best practices, command and control, program management and to advance approach
to market. The beneﬁts of these integration initiatives are now being realized. Improvements in program management have
led to the elimination of a signiﬁcant number of RED programs (programs which are not delivered to speciﬁcation, on time,
or on budget). For additional information on the acquisition of Sortimat, refer to note 6 of the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements.
ATW
On January 5, 2011, the Company completed its acquisition of the majority of Assembly & Test Worldwide, Inc.’s U.S.-based
and German automation and test systems businesses (collectively “ATW”). ATW is a manufacturer of assembly and test
systems with capability in the transportation, life sciences and energy markets.
The Company beneﬁts from ATW’s signiﬁcant experience, particularly in the transportation segment. The acquisition of
ATW provided ATS with the scale required to further organize its marketing and divisions into a group within the Company’s
ASG segment that is focused on transportation. ATW’s integration into ASG is complete, including the consolidation of
ATW’s Saginaw division into Livonia and Dayton divisions. The application of best practices and improvements in command
and control, program management and approach to market has led to incremental margin improvements. For additional
information on the acquisition of ATW, refer to note 6 of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Fiscal 2013 Strategy overview
In ﬁscal 2013, the Company intends to continue to execute its value creation plan by focusing on pursuing growth in its ASG
business, continuing to deliver predictable, sustainable results and maintaining a solid operating platform to support
growth. To achieve these objectives, management plans to focus on the following:
Strengthen ASG’s business processes: To build upon the organizational and operational strength of ASG, management
intends to continue strengthening leadership and management at all levels of the organization. Strategies to attract and
retain top performers and to develop management and leadership capabilities will continue to be a focus and will be
implemented through initiatives such as expatriate employment arrangements, career development and succession
planning. To help ensure a stable and proﬁtable operating base, the Company will continue to roll-out and apply best
practices and business processes globally to improve program management, prevent and eliminate RED programs, reduce
costs, increase standardization and improve quality and timely delivery.
Supply chain management: To capitalize on ASG’s scale and consolidated purchasing power, management plans to
continue making improvements in supply chain management. Material cost reductions will be sought through the
Company’s consolidated and growing purchasing power. ASG’s strategy involves identifying critical and preferred suppliers
with a view to improving service, quality, payment and pricing terms. In addition, ASG will continue to make use of its own
internal supply chain by increasing internal subcontracting with a view to maximizing factory utilization, reducing costs and
increasing the use of standardized designs and standard products.
Approach to market: In ﬁscal 2013, ASG will seek to build on the momentum gained in the front-end of the business in ﬁscal
2012 to support ongoing growth. ASG will continue to target opportunities to provide value based, complete automation
program solutions for customers based on differentiating technological solutions, value of customer outcomes achieved
and global capability. ASG’s global sales and marketing group will continue to target the development and growth of key
accounts. The Company’s sales and marketing functions have been organized around customer industries, which
management believes will enable ASG to better serve its customers and help them differentiate themselves in their
respective markets. By leveraging the Company’s diverse industry experience and geographic footprint, management
believes that the Company’s sales funnel and win rate will continue to increase and drive organic growth.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

Balance sheet strength: To maintain operational and ﬁnancial ﬂexibility, the Company will continue to manage its ﬁnances
to preserve its strong balance sheet through targeted working capital efficiencies, continued emphasis on credit terms and
appropriate funding strategies.

Automation Systems group
ASg BuSINeSS oVeRVIeW
ASG is an industry-leading automation solutions provider to some of the world’s largest multinational companies. ASG has
expertise in custom automation, repeat automation, automation products and value-added services.
ASG categorizes its market into ﬁve industry groups: life sciences, computer-electronics, transportation, energy and
“other”, which is primarily comprised of consumer products. Contract values for individual automation systems are often in
excess of $1.0 million. Given the custom nature of customer projects, contract durations vary greatly, with typical durations
ranging from six to twelve months.
With broad and in-depth knowledge across multiple industries and technical ﬁelds, ASG is able to deliver “single source”
solutions to customers that can lower their production costs, accelerate delivery of their products, and improve quality
control. ASG’s relationships with customers can begin with planning and feasibility studies. In situations where the
customer is seeking in-depth analysis before committing to a program, ASG conducts an analysis to verify the economics
and feasibility of different types of automation, sets objectives for factors such as line speed and yield, assesses production
processes for manufacturability and calculates the total cost of ownership.
When a contract for an automation solution is received, ASG often provides a number of services, including engineering
design, prototyping, process veriﬁcation, speciﬁcation writing, software development, automation simulation, equipment
design and build, third-party equipment qualiﬁcation, procurement and integration, automation system installation,
product line start up, documentation, customer training and after-installation support, maintenance and service. Following
the installation of custom automation, ASG may supply duplicate or “repeat” automation systems to customers that
leverage engineering design completed in the original customer program. For customers seeking complex equipment
replication, ASG’s Automation Products Group (“APG”) provides value engineering, supply chain management, integration
and manufacturing capabilities and other automation products and solutions. Typically, APG solutions are either integrated
into a larger system by the customer for resale, or delivered as a standalone machine to customers who can then resell it.
Competitive Strengths
Management believes ASG has the following competitive strengths:
Global presence, size and critical mass: ASG’s global presence and scale provides an advantage in serving multinational
customers because the markets in which the Company operates are primarily populated by competitors with narrow
geographic and/or industrial market reach. ASG has manufacturing operations in Canada, the United States, China,
Malaysia, Singapore, India, Germany and Switzerland. Management believes that ASG’s scale and locations provide it with
competitive advantages in winning large, multinational customer programs that have become increasingly common in the
industry.
Technical skills, capabilities and experience: Automation manufacturing is a knowledge-based business. ASG has
designed, manufactured, assembled and serviced thousands of automation systems worldwide since 1978 and has an
extensive knowledge base and accumulated design experience. Management believes ASG’s broad experience in many
different industry sectors, with many diverse technologies, along with its talented workforce and ability to provide custom
automation, repeat automation, APG solutions and value-added services, positions the Company well to serve complex
multinational customer programs in a variety of industry sectors.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

Product and technology portfolio: Through its history of bringing thousands of unique automation projects to market, ATS
and its subsidiaries, including Sortimat and ATW, have developed an extensive product and technology portfolio, including
manufacturing vision technologies, numerous material handling technologies and high-accuracy, high precision laser
processing technologies. Management believes this extensive product and technology portfolio gives the Company an
advantage in developing unique and leading solutions for customers and maintaining cost competitiveness.
Trusted customer relationships: ASG serves some of the world’s largest multinational companies. Most of ASG’s
customers are repeat customers and many have long-standing relationships with ATS, often spanning more than a decade.
Management estimates that over 90% of ASG Order Bookings in ﬁscal 2012 were earned from repeat customers.
Recognized name: Management believes ATS is well known within the global automation industry due to its long history of
innovation and broad scope of operations. With the additions of Sortimat, which specializes in the life sciences market, and
ATW, which specializes in the transportation market, management believes that it has further strengthened ATS’s brand
portfolio. Management believes that ATS’s brand names and global reputation tend to improve sales prospecting, allowing
the Company to be considered for a wide variety of customer programs.
Total solutions capabilities: Management believes the Company gains competitive advantages because ASG provides total
turn-key solutions in automation. This allows customers to single source their most complex projects to ATS rather than
rely on multiple equipment builders. In addition, ASG can provide customers with other value-added services including
project ﬁnancing, total cost of ownership studies and life cycle management.
oVeRVIeW – oPeRAtINg ReSultS FRoM CoNtINuINg oPeRAtIoNS
Results from continuing operations comprise the results of ASG and corporate costs not directly attributable to Solar. The
results of the Solar segment are reported as discontinued operations, with comparative periods reclassiﬁed as
discontinued operations.
Consolidated Revenues from Continuing operations
(In millions of dollars)
Revenues by market
Life sciences
Computer-electronics
Energy
Transportation
Other
total revenues from continuing operations
Revenues by installation location
North America
Europe
Asia/Other
total revenues from continuing operations
employees at year end
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Q4 2012
57.0
6.8
17.7
74.0
18.0
$
173.5

$

Q4 2012
104.0
37.6
31.9
$
173.5

$

Q4 2011
55.6
12.2
29.1
36.7
14.8
$
148.4

Fiscal 2012
$
197.0
25.8
77.2
245.9
49.5
$ 595.4

Fiscal 2011
$
195.4
44.3
124.3
71.5
49.8
$
485.3

Q4 2011
78.8
39.9
29.7
$
148.4

Fiscal 2012
$
321.4
149.4
124.6
$ 595.4

Fiscal 2011
$
247.3
122.1
115.9
$
485.3

2,400

2,271

$

$
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Fourth Quarter
Fourth quarter revenues were 17% higher than in the corresponding period a year ago as a result of increased Order
Backlog entering the fourth quarter compared to a year ago.
By industrial market, revenues from life sciences increased 3% year over year due to higher Order Backlog entering the
fourth quarter compared to a year ago, although the impact of higher Order Backlog in life sciences was dampened by a
longer performance period on certain programs. The 44% decrease in computer-electronics revenues reﬂected lower
market activity compared to a year ago. Revenues generated in the energy market decreased 39% on lower Order Backlog
entering the fourth quarter compared to a year ago, reﬂecting lower activity primarily in the solar market. The 102%
increase in transportation revenues compared to a year ago primarily reﬂected higher Order Backlog entering the fourth
quarter compared to a year ago, primarily on improved activity in the global automotive market. “Other” revenues increased
22% year over year primarily due to increased revenues in the consumer products market.
Full year
Revenues were 23% higher than the corresponding period a year ago as a result of revenues from ATW, improved Order
Bookings and increased Order Backlog entering the ﬁscal year compared to a year ago.
By industrial market, revenues from transportation increased 244% compared to a year ago reﬂecting higher Order
Backlog entering ﬁscal 2012 compared to ﬁscal 2011, primarily on improved activity in the global automotive market.
Revenues from life sciences increased 1% due to increased Order Backlog entering ﬁscal year 2012 compared to ﬁscal 2011,
although the impact of higher Order Backlog in life sciences was dampened by a longer performance period on certain
programs. The decrease of 42% in revenues from computer-electronics reﬂected lower market activity in ﬁscal 2012
compared to a year ago. Energy revenues decreased 38% on lower Order Backlog entering ﬁscal 2012 compared to ﬁscal
2011, reﬂecting lower activity primarily in the solar market.“Other” revenues decreased 1% compared to a year ago.
Year over year foreign exchange rate changes negatively impacted the translation of ASG revenues earned in foreign
subsidiaries, reﬂecting the strengthening of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.
Consolidated operating Results
(In millions of dollars)
earnings from operations
Depreciation and amortization
eBItDA

Q4 2012
16.1
2.9
$
19.0

$

Q4 2011
14.2
2.8
$
17.0

$

Fiscal 2012
$
60.3
12.0
$
72.3

Fiscal 2011
$
35.5
10.5
$
46.0

Fourth Quarter
Fiscal 2012 fourth quarter earnings from operations were $16.1 million (9% operating margin) compared to earnings from
operations of $14.2 million (10% operating margin) in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011. Fiscal 2011 fourth quarter earnings
from operations included the beneﬁt of $2.8 million in proceeds received from a previously written-off note receivable.
Increased earnings from operations in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 primarily reﬂected higher revenues earned during
the period and improved operating margins at acquired businesses. These increases were partially offset by increased
stock-based compensation expenses, as well as increased proﬁt sharing expenses and employee performance incentives.
Fiscal 2012 fourth quarter earnings from operations also beneﬁtted from lower spending on professional fees related to
acquisitions, and decreased severance and restructuring charges compared to the corresponding period a year ago.
Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012, generally consistent with the
$2.8 million expensed in the same period a year ago.
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Full year
Earnings from operations were $60.3 million (10% operating margin) compared to earnings from operations of $35.5
million (7% operating margin) in the corresponding period a year ago. Excluding a $3.0 million gain relating to the sale of a
redundant ASG facility in France, and the beneﬁt of $3.7 million of previously unrecognized U.S. research and development
tax credits, both of which were recognized in the third quarter of ﬁscal 2012, earnings from operations were $53.6 million
(9% operating margin).
Also included in ﬁscal 2012 earnings from operations was a $1.0 million charge for bad debt related to a speciﬁc customer
bankruptcy protection ﬁling. Fiscal 2011 earnings from operations included the beneﬁt of $2.8 million in proceeds received
from a previously written-off note receivable.
On a normalized basis, increased earnings from operations primarily reﬂected higher revenues earned during the period
and improved operating margins at acquired businesses. The increase in earnings from operations on a year-over-year
basis also reﬂected lower spending on professional fees related to acquisitions.
Depreciation and amortization expense was $12.0 million in ﬁscal 2012 compared to $10.5 million in the same period a year
ago. The increase in ﬁscal 2012 depreciation and amortization primarily related to increased amortization on the
identiﬁable intangible assets recorded on the acquisitions of Sortimat and ATW.
ASg order Bookings by Quarter
(In millions of dollars)
Fiscal 2012
$
157
165
179
187
$ 688

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Total Order Bookings

Fiscal 2011
$
85
105
133
206
$
529

Fiscal 2012 Order Bookings were $688 million, 30% higher than a year ago, reﬂecting improved Order Bookings in
transportation following a general recovery in the automotive market, new product launches by automotive OEMs and tier 1
suppliers and the addition of ATW’s business. Improved Order Bookings also reﬂected additional activity in the life sciences
market. Order Bookings in the ﬁrst seven weeks of ﬁscal 2013 were $53 million.
ASg order Backlog Continuity
(In millions of dollars)
Opening Order Backlog
Revenues
Order Bookings
Order Backlog adjustments 1
Total

Q4 2012
$
376
(173)
187
(8)
$ 382

Q4 2011
$
215
(148)
206
23
$
296

Fiscal 2012
$ 296
(595)
688
(7)
$ 382

Fiscal 2011
$
209
(485)
529
43
$
296

1

Order Backlog adjustments include foreign exchange adjustments, cancellations and acquisitions. In ﬁscal 2011 incremental Order Backlog of $62 million was
acquired in connection with Sortimat and ATW. In the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011, incremental Order Backlog of $35 million was acquired in connection with
ATW.
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ASg order Backlog by Industry
(In millions of dollars)
Life sciences
Computer-electronics
Energy
Transportation
Other
Total

Fiscal 2012
$
142
13
21
186
20
$ 382

Fiscal 2011
$
86
12
49
133
16
$
296

At March 31, 2012, ASG Order Backlog was $382 million, 29% higher than at March 31, 2011. This growth reﬂected
increased Order Bookings due to the Company’s revised approach to market, and improved market conditions, particularly
in transportation and life sciences, and a longer performance period for certain customer programs.
ASg outlook
The general economic environment has improved in ﬁscal 2012; however, uncertainty remains, particularly with respect to
the European economy due to the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. This has the potential to result in tighter credit markets
which could negatively impact demand, particularly for the Company’s European operations and may cause volatility in
Order Bookings. The Company has seen improvement in certain customer markets such as transportation and life
sciences; however, many customers remain cautious in their approach to capital investment. Customer activity in the solar
energy market has slowed, with reductions in solar feed-in-tariffs in several markets, negatively impacting demand for solar
products and for additional solar manufacturing capacity.
Despite the uncertainty and volatility in the global economy, activity in the Company’s front-end of the business has
remained strong. The Company’s sales funnel and proposal activity has continued to grow. The Company’s sales
organization will continue to work to engage with customers on enterprise-type solutions. This is expected to improve Order
Bookings over the long-term. However, this approach to market may cause variability in Order Bookings from quarter to
quarter and lengthen the performance period and revenue recognition for certain customer programs. At the end of ﬁscal
2012, Order Backlog was at its highest level ever, which will partially mitigate the impact of volatile Order Bookings on
revenues in the short-term.
Management expects that the implementation of its strategic initiatives to improve business processes, leadership and
supply chain management will continue to have a positive impact on ATS operations. Management’s disciplined focus on
program management, cost reductions, standardization and quality put ATS in a strong competitive position to capitalize on
opportunities going forward and sustain performance in difficult market conditions.
The integration of both Sortimat and ATW is complete. The consolidation of ATW’s Saginaw division into divisions in Livonia
and Dayton and initiatives to improve program management, eliminate RED programs, control costs and improve
utilization, combined with the integration into ATS’s sales and marketing processes are expected to drive continued
improvements in operating results.
The Company is actively seeking to expand its position in the global automation market organically and through acquisition.
To further this objective, management will continue to review and pursue attractive opportunities and intends to apply
additional resources to acquisition activities going forward. The Company’s strong ﬁnancial position provides a solid
foundation to pursue organic growth and the ﬂexibility to pursue its acquisition growth strategy.
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Consolidated Results From Continuing operations & Selected Fourth Quarter And Annual Information
(In millions of dollars, except per share data)
Fiscal 2012 and 2011 results are reported under IFRS. Fiscal 2010 results are reported under Canadian GAAP. Results have
been reclassiﬁed to present Solar as discontinued operations.

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Gain on sale of land and building
earnings from operations
Net ﬁnance costs
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
Net income from continuing operations
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)
earnings (loss) per share
Basic and diluted– from continuing operations
Basic and diluted– from discontinued operations
From continuing operations:
Total assets
Total cash and short-term investments
Total bank debt

Q4 2012
$ 173.5
129.7
25.7
2.0
–
$ 16.1
$
0.4
4.8
$ 10.9
$
(7.9)
$
3.0

Q4 2011
$ 148.4
113.6
19.8
0.8
–
$ 14.2
$
0.3
(0.5)
$ 14.4
$ (93.9)
$ (79.5)

$ 0.13
$ (0.09)
$ 0.04

$ 0.17
$ (1.08)
$ (0.91)

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010
$ 595.4
$ 485.3
$ 374.9
438.7
371.9
279.9
94.5
74.9
61.0
4.9
3.0
3.3
(3.0)
–
–
$ 60.3
$ 35.5
$ 30.7
$
1.6
$
1.1
$
0.4
14.7
6.6
(20.1)
$ 44.0
$
27.8
$ 50.4
$ (103.5)
$ (113.3)
$ (38.2)
$ (59.5)
$ (85.5)
$ 12.2

$ 0.51
$ (1.19)
$ (0.68)

$ 0.32
$ (1.30)
$ (0.98)

$ 0.58
$ (0.44)
$ 0.14

$ 532.9
$ 96.2
$
3.0

$ 496.7
$ 117.1
$
7.9

$ 476.6
$ 197.6
–

Revenues. At $173.5 million, consolidated revenues from continuing operations for the ﬁscal 2012 fourth quarter were 17%
higher than for the corresponding period a year ago, which is a result of increased Order Backlog entering the fourth quarter
compared to the corresponding period a year ago.
Fiscal 2012 revenues were $595.4 million or 23% higher than a year ago as a result of record Order Backlog entering the
period combined with additional revenues provided by ATW.
Cost of revenues. At $129.7 million, ﬁscal 2012 fourth quarter cost of revenues increased over the corresponding period a
year ago by $16.1 million or 14% primarily on higher volumes. The increase in gross margin to 25% in the fourth quarter of
ﬁscal 2012 from 24% a year ago reﬂects higher revenues and improved program management.
At $438.7 million, ﬁscal 2012 cost of revenues increased over the prior year by 18% or $66.8 million primarily on higher
volumes. Fiscal 2012 gross margin increased to 26% from 23% in the corresponding period a year ago. This reﬂected the
beneﬁt of $3.7 million of previously unrecognized U.S. research and development tax credits which were recorded due to
improved proﬁtability in the Company’s U.S. businesses. Excluding this item, improved gross margin resulted from higher
revenues, decreased warranty costs and improved program management.
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Selling, general and administrative ("Sg&A") expenses. SG&A expenses for the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 increased
30% or $5.9 million to $25.7 million compared to the corresponding period a year ago. Increased SG&A costs reﬂected
increased proﬁt sharing expenses and employee performance incentives. These increases were offset by lower spending in
the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 on professional fees related to acquisitions and decreased severance and restructuring
charges. In ﬁscal 2011, fourth quarter SG&A included the beneﬁt of $2.8 million received in relation to a previously writtenoff note receivable.
Fiscal 2012 SG&A expenses increased 26% or $19.6 million to $94.5 million compared to a year ago. Higher SG&A costs
reﬂected incremental spending from acquired businesses, incremental amortization related to identiﬁable intangible assets
recorded on the acquisition of Sortimat and ATW, and a $1.0 million charge for bad debt related to a speciﬁc customer
bankruptcy protection ﬁling. These increases were partially offset by lower professional fees on acquisition activities. In
ﬁscal 2011, SG&A also included the beneﬁt of $2.8 million received in relation to a previously written-off note receivable.
Stock-based compensation cost. For the three month period ended March 31, 2012, stock-based compensation expense
increased to $2.0 million from $0.8 million in the corresponding period a year ago, primarily reﬂecting additional expense
from new stock option grants, accelerated recognition of expenses related to vesting of performance-based stock options
and the revaluation of deferred stock units. Fiscal 2012 stock-based compensation expense increased to $4.9 million from
$3.0 million a year earlier.
The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. The stock options vest upon the Company’s stock price
trading at or above a stock price performance threshold for a speciﬁed minimum number of trading days. When the
performance-based options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated
with the vested stock options in the period in which they vest. As at March 31, 2012, the following performance-based stock
options were un-vested:
Weighted
average
Current
Remaining
Stock price
Number of
grant date
remaining
year
expense to
performance
options
value per
vesting
expense
recognize
threshold
outstanding
option
period
(in ’000s)
(in ’000s)
$
9.49
41,667
$
1.66
2.7 years
$
12
$
32
10.41
266,667
2.11
0.5 years
124
53
10.50
889,333
1.41
1.5 years
217
318
12.41
266,666
2.11
1.4 years
103
139
13.08
218,667
2.77
0.8 years
123
100
earnings from operations. For the three and twelve month periods ended March 31, 2012, consolidated earnings from
operations were $16.1 million and $60.3 million respectively (operating margins of 9% and 10% respectively), compared to
earnings from operations of $14.2 million and $35.5 million a year ago (operating margins of 10% and 7% respectively).
Higher earnings from operations in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 reﬂected higher revenues and improved gross margins,
which were partially offset by higher SG&A expenses.
Higher earnings from operations for the full year in ﬁscal 2012 reﬂected higher revenues, improved gross margins, the $3.7
million beneﬁt of previously unrecognized U.S. research and development tax credits and a $3.0 million gain relating to the
sale of a redundant ASG facility in France. The increase was partially offset by higher SG&A expenses.
Net ﬁnance costs. Net ﬁnance costs were $0.4 million in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 compared to $0.3 million a year
ago. The increase in net ﬁnance costs is mainly attributable to a decrease in interest income on lower cash balances.
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Fiscal 2012 net ﬁnance costs were $1.6 million compared to $1.1 million in the corresponding period last year, reﬂecting
lower cash balances and credit amendment fees, and costs associated with the issuance of letters of credit.
Provision for income taxes. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company’s effective income tax rate of 30%
differed from the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate of 28% primarily as a result of income
earned in certain jurisdictions with a higher statutory tax rate and losses in certain jurisdictions, the beneﬁt of which was
not recognized.
For the twelve months ended March 31, 2012, the Company’s effective income tax rate of 25% differed from the combined
Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate of 28% primarily as a result of applying lower tax rates to the
expected reversal of future timing differences.
Net income from continuing operations. Fourth quarter ﬁscal 2012 net income from continuing operations was $10.9
million (13 cents per share basic and diluted) compared to net income from continuing operations of $14.4 million (17 cents
per share basic and diluted) for the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011. Net income from continuing operations for ﬁscal 2012 was
$44.0 million (51 cents per share basic and diluted) compared to net income from continuing operations of $27.8 million
(32 cents per share basic and diluted) for the corresponding period a year ago.
Reconciliation of eBItDA to IFRS measures
(In millions of dollars)
Fiscal 2012
$ 72.3
12.0
$ 60.3
1.6
14.7
$ 44.0

eBItDA
Less: depreciation and amortization expense
earnings from operations
Less: Net ﬁnance costs
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
Net income from continuing operations

eBItDA
Less: depreciation and amortization expense
earnings from operations
Less: Net ﬁnance costs
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
Net income from continuing operations

Fiscal 2011
$ 46.0
10.5
$ 35.5
1.1
6.6
$
27.8

Fiscal 2010
$ 38.7
8.0
$ 30.7
0.4
(20.1)
$ 50.4

Q4 2012
$ 19.0
2.9
$ 16.1
0.4
4.8
$ 10.9

Q4 2011
$
17.0
2.8
$
14.2
0.3
(0.5)
$
14.4

Discontinued operations: Solar
(In millions of dollars)
total Revenues
loss from discontinued operations
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
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Q4 2012
$
9.8
(8.2)
(7.9)

Q4 2011
$ 49.3
(93.3)
(93.9)

Fiscal 2012
$ 116.2
(98.5)
(103.5)

Fiscal 2011
$ 216.2
(111.9)
(113.3)
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Fourth Quarter
Revenues
Solar revenues in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 included those of Ontario Solar only as a result of the de-consolidation of
PWF during ﬁscal 2012. Despite a 367% year-over-year increase in Ontario Solar’s revenues, Solar ﬁscal 2012 fourth quarter
revenues of $9.8 million were 80% lower than in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 reﬂecting the de-consolidation of PWF.
Loss from Discontinued Operations
Solar’s ﬁscal 2012 fourth quarter loss from operations was $8.2 million compared to a loss from operations of $93.3 million
a year ago. Ontario Solar recorded a $2.0 million loss in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012 on lower than expected revenues
and higher ﬁxed costs resulting from ramping-up in anticipation of higher demand compared to a $2.3 million loss in the
fourth quarter a year ago. The total loss attributable to PWF was $6.2 million and was mainly due to costs incurred and
provisions made in respect of the Company’s obligations related to the bankruptcy process. In the fourth quarter of ﬁscal
2011, Solar’s loss from operations included:
•

$70.8 million of non-cash impairment charges against property, plant and equipment;

•

$7.1 million of non-cash charges related to the write-down of inventory to its net realizable value, following decreases to
average selling prices in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011 due to low enacted and expected reductions in feed-in tariffs in
the French and wider European solar markets;

•

$2.3 million of incremental restructuring charges related to the ﬁnalization of the restructuring plan at PWF, accrual for
contract related costs and related professional fees; and

•

incremental warranty costs, and bad debt write-offs related to customer claims, disputes and customer bankruptcies,
caused in part by the moratorium imposed by the French government on the solar industry during the ﬁscal fourth quarter.

Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
Solar’s fourth quarter loss from operations, net of tax, was $7.9 million compared to a loss from operations, net of tax, of
$93.9 million in the corresponding period a year ago.
Full year
Revenues
Revenues for ﬁscal 2012 of $116.2 million were 46% lower than in ﬁscal 2011 as ﬁscal 2012 only included seven months of
PWF revenues. This decline was partially offset by a 461% year-over-year increase in revenues at Ontario Solar.
Loss from Discontinued Operations
Solar’s ﬁscal 2012 loss from operations was $98.5 million compared to a loss from operations of $111.9 million a year ago.
Fiscal 2012 operating losses included:
•

$24.1 million of non-cash charges related to the write-down of inventory to its net realizable value, following declines in
market average selling prices due to declining demand and excess module supply in the European solar industry;

•

$24.1 million of charges related to the termination of certain silicon and wafer supply contracts, including non-cash
asset impairment charges of $19.9 million;

•

Non-cash charge of $8.8 million related to silicon deposits which the Company did not expect to utilize;

•

$3.1 million of write-downs to receivables that are not expected to be recovered; and,

•

Non-cash ﬁxed asset and goodwill impairment charges of $4.3 million and $5.5 million respectively to write down assets
to their expected recoverable amounts.
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Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
Solar’s ﬁscal 2012 loss from operations, net of tax, was $103.5 million compared to a loss from operations, net of tax, of
$113.3 million in the corresponding period a year ago.
Solar outlook
On November 8, 2011, a hearing was held at which time the French bankruptcy court placed PWF into a “recovery”
proceeding (“redressement judiciaire”) under the supervision of a court appointed trustee. On February 27, 2012, a
subsidiary of the EDF group, the French electricity utility, was selected by the French bankruptcy court to purchase the
assets of PWF, and the entire workforce of PWF was subsequently transferred to the purchaser or offered to be transferred
within the purchaser’s group. Effective March 1, 2012, the purchaser assumed control over the operations of PWF. The
conﬁrmation of a new operator for the PWF business concluded ATS’s operating support of PWF. As is customary in France,
the purchaser and the court appointed trustee were granted a period of time (ending in June 2012) to ﬁnalize the purchase
agreements relating to the PWF assets. These agreements, which will complete the transfer of the legal ownership of those
assets, are still being ﬁnalized.
Although a new operator is now assuming the whole operation of the PWF assets and all employees have been (or offered to
be) transferred to this new operator or within its group, the judicial liquidation process could take several years to wind-up.
In light of the current situation, management does not expect to incur any additional expenses as a result of the bankruptcy,
however, until all matters are resolved under the bankruptcy process, additional provisions may be required. The Company
will record any such provision if and when it becomes known and the Company determines that the obligation will result in a
probable outﬂow of economic resources and, the Company is able to measure the obligation with sufficient reliability.
ATS remains committed to the separation of its entire solar business from its core automation business. To complete this
goal, ATS is advancing opportunities related to its other solar assets. These opportunities are expected to positively impact
cash during the next six months. In this regard, in December 2011, ATS sold an ASG-owned building in France that formerly
housed PWF module assembly. The accounting impact of this sale was recorded under continuing operations.
Regarding Ontario Solar, ATS is conducting a formal sale process to divest the business. The Company has received a
number of non-binding indicative offers for the Ontario Solar business and is working with the interested parties to
conclude a transaction.
In the interim, the Ontario provincial government has completed its scheduled review of the Feed-In Tariff (“FIT”) Program.
The Ontario government has accepted the recommendations of the review. Key changes going forward are expected to
streamline the regulatory approvals process, decrease FIT rates by 10% to 32% depending on the size and location of the
installation and in addition, the government has committed to review FIT rates annually.
Ontario Solar PV Fields (“OSPV”), in which Ontario Solar holds a 50% interest, has secured conditional FIT contracts
totalling approximately 64 MWs related to large-scale ground-mount solar projects. OSPV is in the process of seeking
approvals necessary to begin construction on the projects. In the short-term, OSPV expects to have a deﬁnitive agreement
in place for ﬁnancing and ultimate third-party project ownership. Ontario Solar expects to supply modules to OSPV.
During the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2012, Ontario Solar signed two customer agreements for the manufacture and supply of
customer-branded modules. The ﬁrst agreement is for the supply of a minimum of 24 MWs over ﬁscal 2012 and 2013.
Under the ﬁrst agreement, Ontario Solar will recognize revenue on the full value of the modules manufactured.
The second agreement is for the supply of a minimum of 160 MWs over four years and allows for the potential to increase
volumes by an additional 160 MWs over the term of the agreement. Under the second agreement, Ontario Solar will
recognize revenue for module manufacturing services and module materials other than solar cells, which will be provided
by the customer. Initial shipments have been deferred to the ﬁrst quarter of ﬁscal 2013.
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Ontario Solar has also signed agreements with developers who have secured conditional FIT contracts for a number of
projects. Ontario Solar expects to provide modules and other related services to these projects.
SuMMARy oF INVeStMeNtS, lIQuIDIty, CASh FloW AND FINANCIAl ReSouRCeS
Investments
(In millions of dollars)
Fiscal 2012
Investments — increase (decrease)
Non-cash operating working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Business acquisitions
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Proceeds from disposal of portfolio investments
Investing activities of discontinued operations
total net investments

$

$

38.4
4.8
2.7
–
(8.0)
(2.1)
6.1
41.9

Fiscal 2011
$

3.2
9.1
1.4
63.8
(2.0)
(2.3)
27.6
$ 100.8

For ﬁscal 2012, investment in non-cash working capital increased by $38.4 million. Accounts receivable increased 25% or
$18.1 million, primarily due to increased revenues and the timing of billings on certain customer contracts. Net contracts in
progress increased by 141% or $40.1 million compared to March 31, 2011, reﬂecting increased revenues and longer billing
milestones on certain customer programs. Inventories decreased year over year by 15% or $1.8 million. Excluding
restricted cash, deposits and prepaid assets increased by 15% or $1.6 million, primarily due to an increase in deposits with
suppliers. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased 21% or $20.0 million since March 31, 2011, primarily due to the
timing of purchases. Provisions increased by $0.7 million or 8% since March 31, 2011.
Capital expenditures totalled $4.8 million for ﬁscal 2012, primarily related to improvements and upgrades at existing
facilities and computer hardware upgrades. Capital expenditures were $9.1 million in ﬁscal 2011, as a result of the purchase
of a new facility in the U.S.A.
Acquisition of intangible assets of $2.7 million in ﬁscal 2012 primarily related to software acquisitions in ASG and increased
over ﬁscal 2011 as the Company initiated implementation and upgrade projects for a number of key information systems.
The Company’s ﬁscal 2011 expenditures in business acquisitions of $63.8 million included the acquisitions of Sortimat and
ATW for $48.0 million and $15.8 million respectively.
The proceeds from disposal of assets of $8.0 million in ﬁscal 2012 primarily related to the sale of a facility in Europe. The
proceeds from disposal of assets of $2.0 million in ﬁscal 2011 primarily related to the sale of a facility in the U.S.A.
During ﬁscal 2012, the Company sold a portfolio investment for proceeds of $2.1 million. During ﬁscal 2011, the Company
sold a portfolio investment for proceeds of $2.3 million.
The Company performs impairment tests on its goodwill balances on an annual basis or as warranted by events or
circumstances. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2012
and has determined there is no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2012 (ﬁscal 2011 – $nil).
All of the Company’s investments involve risks and require that the Company make judgments and estimates regarding the
likelihood of recovery of the respective costs. In the event management determines that any of the Company’s investments
have become permanently impaired or recovery is no longer reasonably assured, the value of the investment would be
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written down to its estimated net realizable value as a charge against earnings. Due to the magnitude of certain
investments, such write-downs could be material.
Cash, leverage and Cash Flow from Continuing operations
(In millions of dollars, except ratios)
Year-end cash and cash equivalents
Year-end debt-to-equity ratio
Cash ﬂows provided by operating activities from continuing operations

Fiscal 2012
$ 96.2
0.01:1
$
17.8

Fiscal 2011
$ 117.1
0.02:1
$ 40.4

At March 31, 2012, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $96.2 million compared to $117.1 million at March 31,
2011. The Company's total debt-to-total-equity ratio, excluding accumulated other comprehensive income, at March 31,
2012 was 0.01:1. At March 31, 2012, the Company had $51.7 million of unutilized credit available under existing credit
facilities and another $24.1 million available under letter of credit facilities.
In ﬁscal 2012, cash ﬂows provided by operating activities from continuing operations were $17.8 million ($40.4 million
provided by operating activities from continuing operations in ﬁscal 2011). The decrease in cash ﬂows provided by
operating activities from continuing operations related primarily to the timing of investments in non-cash working capital in
a number of large customer programs.
The Company and its lender have agreed to extend its primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) until September 30,
2012. The Company’s primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) provides total credit facilities of up to $95.0 million,
comprised of an operating credit facility of $65.0 million and a letter of credit facility of up to $30.0 million for certain
purposes. The operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the outstanding funds
advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit Agreement, which is
secured by the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a pledge of shares and
guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on September 30, 2012.
As at March 31, 2012, the Company had issued letters of credit in the amount of $17.0 million under the operating credit
facility (March 31, 2011 - $5.6 million) and $30.0 million under the letter of credit facility (March 31, 2011 - $nil). No other
amounts were drawn on the primary credit facility.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letters of credit for certain
purposes and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The
interest rates applicable to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. For prime rate
advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in
Canada, respectively, plus 0.90% to 2.40%. For bankers’ acceptances and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the
bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively, plus 1.90% to 3.40%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $30.0 million letter of credit facility which ranges
from 0.80% to 1.90%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from 0.475% to 0.850%.
The Credit Agreement is subject to debt leverage tests, a current ratio test and an interest coverage test. Under the terms
of the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The
Credit Agreement also limits advances to subsidiaries and partially restricts the Company from repurchasing its common
shares, paying dividends and from acquiring and disposing of certain assets.
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The Company has additional credit facilities available of $9.9 million (6.1 million Euro, 33.0 million Indian Rupees and 1.0
million Swiss francs). The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $3.0 million (March 31, 2011 - $7.9 million), of
which $0.4 million is classiﬁed as bank indebtedness and $2.5 million is classiﬁed as long-term debt. The interest rates
applicable to the credit facilities range from 2.8% to 14.8% per annum. A portion of the long-term debt is secured by certain
assets of the Company. The 1.0 million Swiss Francs and the 33.0 million Indian Rupees credit facilities are secured by
letters of credit under the primary credit facility.
The Company expects to continue increasing its investment in working capital to support its growing Order Backlog. The
Company expects that continued cash ﬂows from operations, together with cash and cash equivalents on hand and credit
available under operating and long-term credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in
working capital and capital assets, and to fund strategic investment plans including some potential acquisitions. Signiﬁcant
acquisitions could result in additional debt or equity ﬁnancing requirements.
Contractual obligations
(In thousands of dollars)
The minimum operating lease payments related primarily to facilities and equipment, purchase obligations and other
obligations are as follows:
From continuing operations:

Due within one year
Due in one to ﬁve years
Due in over ﬁve years

Operating
Leases
$ 3,232
8,457
3,925
$ 15,614

Purchase
Obligations
$ 51,085
514
–
$ 51,599

From discontinued operations:

Due within one year

Purchase
Obligations
$ 1,023

The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of purchase obligations, and various operating lease ﬁnancing
arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment, which have been entered into in the normal course of business.
The Company’s purchase obligations consist primarily of materials purchase commitments.
In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to customers for obligations relating to contract completion and
timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for
advances received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. In addition, the Company may provide
bank guarantees as security on equipment under lease and on order. At March 31, 2012, the total value of outstanding bank
guarantees available under credit facilities was approximately $57.4 million (March 31, 2011 – $31.9 million) from continuing
operations and was $nil (March 31, 2011 – $13.9 million) from discontinued operations.
The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative ﬁnancial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to
default on their contractual obligations to the Company. The Company minimizes this risk by limiting counterparties to
major ﬁnancial institutions and monitoring their creditworthiness. The Company’s credit exposure to forward foreign
exchange contracts is the current replacement value of contracts that are in a gain position. For further information related
to the Company’s use of derivative ﬁnancial instruments refer to note 14 of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. The
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Company is also exposed to credit risk from its customers. Substantially all of the Company’s trade accounts receivable are
due from customers in a variety of industries and, as such, are subject to normal credit risks from their respective
industries. The Company regularly monitors customers for changes in credit risk. The Company does not believe that any
single industry or geographic region represents signiﬁcant credit risk. Credit risk concentration with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational customers and through insurance
purchased by the Company.
During ﬁscal 2012, 150,600 stock options were exercised. As of May 23, 2012 the total number of shares outstanding was
87,439,755 and there were 7,292,488 stock options outstanding to acquire common shares of the Company.
Related Party transactions
There were no signiﬁcant related party transactions in ﬁscal 2012. See note 27 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements for
further details on related party disclosure.
FoReIgN eXChANge
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its functional currency
of the Canadian dollar. Strengthening in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar had a negative impact on
translation of the Company’s revenues in ﬁscal 2012 compared to the corresponding period of ﬁscal 2011.
The Company’s Canadian operations generate signiﬁcant revenues in major foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which
exceed the natural hedge provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage a portion of
this net foreign currency exposure, the Company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts. The timing and
amount of these forward foreign exchange contract requirements are estimated based on existing customer contracts on
hand or anticipated, current conditions in the Company’s markets and the Company’s past experience. Certain of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries will also enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge identiﬁed balance sheet,
revenue and purchase exposures. The Company’s forward foreign exchange contract hedging program is intended to
mitigate movements in currency rates primarily over a four-to-six month period. See note 14 to the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements for details on the derivative ﬁnancial instruments outstanding at March 31, 2012.
In addition, from time to time, the Company enters forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk
arising from certain inter-company loans and net investments in certain self-sustaining subsidiaries.
The Company uses hedging as a risk management tool, not to speculate.

U.S. Dollar
Euro
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year end actual exchange rates
in CDN$
March 31,
March 31,
2012
2011
% change
0.9975
0.9696
2.9%
1.3304
1.3743
(3.2)%

Period average exchange rates
in CDN$
March 31,
March 31,
2012
2011
% change
0.9938
1.0173
(2.3)%
1.3676
1.3427
1.9%
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CoNSolIDAteD QuARteRly ReSultS
Results have been reclassiﬁed to present Solar as discontinued operations.
($ in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenues from continuing
operations
Earnings from operations
Income from continuing
operations
Loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)

Q4 2012

Q3 2012

Q2 2012

Q1 2012

Q4 2011

Q3 2011

Q2 2011

Q1 2011

$ 173.5
$ 16.1

$ 149.1
$ 20.4

$ 145.9
$ 13.3

$ 126.9
$ 10.5

$ 148.4
$ 14.2

$ 120.8
$
6.1

$ 114.3
$ 6.6

$ 101.8
$ 8.5

$

10.9

$

17.6

$

$

$

$

$

$

5.6

$
$

(7.9) $
3.0 $

(8.0)
9.6

$ (76.4) $ (11.2)
$ (67.1) $ (5.0)

$ (93.9)
$ (79.5)

$ (16.1)
$ (13.1)

$ (2.9)
$
1.9

$
$

(0.4)
5.2

$

0.13

$

$

$ 0.03

$ 0.05

$ 0.06

9.3

6.2

14.4

3.0

4.8

Basic and diluted earnings
per share from
continuing operations
Basic and diluted loss
per share from
discontinued operations
Basic and diluted earnings
(loss) per share

$ (0.09) $ (0.09)

$ (0.87) $ (0.13)

$ (1.08)

$ (0.18)

$ (0.04)

$ (0.00)

$

$ (0.76) $ (0.06)

$ (0.91)

$ (0.15)

$ 0.01

$ 0.06

ASG Order Bookings

$ 187.0

$ 179.0

$ 165.0

$ 157.0

$ 206.0

$ 133.0

$ 105.0

$ 85.0

ASG Order Backlog

$ 382.0

$ 376.0

$ 363.0

$ 328.0

$ 296.0

$ 215.0

$ 208.0

$ 215.0

0.04

$ 0.20

$

0.11

0.11

$ 0.07

0.17

Interim ﬁnancial results are not necessarily indicative of annual or longer-term results because many of the individual
markets served by the Company tend to be cyclical in nature. General economic trends, product life cycles and product
changes may impact revenues and operating performance. ATS typically experiences some seasonality with its revenues
and operating earnings due to summer plant shutdowns by its customers.
CRItICAl ACCouNtINg eStIMAteS
Note 3 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements describes the basis of accounting and the Company’s signiﬁcant
accounting policies.
Revenue recognition and contracts in progress
The nature of ASG contracts requires the use of estimates to quote new business and most automation systems are
typically sold on a ﬁxed-price basis. Revenues on construction contracts and other long-term contracts are recognized on a
percentage of completion basis as outlined in note 3(d) “Construction Contracts” of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
In applying the accounting policy on construction contracts, judgment is required in determining the estimated costs to
complete a contract. These cost estimates are reviewed at each reporting period and by their nature may give rise to
income volatility. If the actual costs incurred by the Company to complete a contract are signiﬁcantly higher than
estimated, the Company’s earnings may be negatively affected. The use of estimates involve risks, since the work to be
performed requires varying degrees of technical uncertainty, including possible development work to meet the customer’s
speciﬁcation, the extent of which is sometimes not determinable until after the project has been awarded. In the event the
Company is unable to meet the deﬁned performance speciﬁcation for a contracted automation system, it may need to
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redesign and rebuild all or a portion of the system at its expense without an increase in the selling price. Certain contracts
may have provisions that reduce the selling price if the Company fails to deliver or complete the contract by speciﬁed dates.
These provisions may expose the Company to liabilities or adversely affect the Company’s results of operations or ﬁnancial
position.
ASG’s contracts may be terminated by customers in the event of a default by the Company or, in some cases, for the
convenience of the customer. In the event of a termination for convenience, the Company typically negotiates a payment
provision reﬂective of the progress achieved on the contract and/or the costs incurred to the termination date. If a contract
is cancelled, Order Backlog is reduced and production utilization may be negatively impacted.
Complete provision, which can be signiﬁcant, is made for losses on such contracts when such losses ﬁrst become known.
Revisions in estimates of costs and proﬁts on contracts, which can also be signiﬁcant, are recorded in the accounting period
in which the relevant facts impacting the estimates become known.
A portion of ASG revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally at the time of shipment and transfer of title to the
customer, provided collection is reasonably assured.
Income taxes
Deferred tax assets, disclosed in note 19 of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, are recognized to the extent that it is
probable that taxable income will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Signiﬁcant management judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable income together with future tax planning strategies.
If the assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the deferred tax asset changes, the Company would be required to
recognize more or fewer of the deferred tax assets which would increase or decrease income tax expense in the period in
which this is determined. The Company establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates for possible consequences
of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on
various factors, such as experience of previous taxation audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable
entity and the respective tax authority. These provisions for uncertain tax positions are made using the best estimate of the
amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all the relevant factors. The Company reviews the
adequacy of these provisions at each quarter. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could
result from audits by the taxation authorities. Where the ﬁnal tax outcome of these matters is different from the amount
initially recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
Share-based payment transactions
The Company measures the cost of transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires the determination
of the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also
requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option,
weighted average risk-free interest rate, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed in note 20 of the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculations involve signiﬁcant estimates and assumptions.
Items estimated include cash ﬂows, discount rates and assumptions on revenue growth rates. These estimates could effect
the Company’s future results if the current estimates of future performance and fair values change. As described in note 13 of
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the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis. The Company performed its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at March 31, 2012 and has determined there is no impairment (March 31, 2011 – $nil).
Provisions
As described in note 3(q) of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the Company records a provision when an obligation
exists, an outﬂow of economic resources required to settle the obligation is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. The Company records a provision based on the best estimate of the required economic
outﬂow to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. While management believes these estimates are
reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in estimates could have a material impact on the obligations and
expenses reported by the Company.
Pensions
The cost of deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans and the present value of the pension obligations are determined using actuarial
valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the
future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension
increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, a deﬁned beneﬁt
obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in the respective
currency, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation. The
mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the speciﬁc country. Future salary increases and pension
increases are based on expected future inﬂation rates for the respective country. Further details about the assumptions
used are provided in note 16 of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
INteRNAtIoNAl FINANCIAl RePoRtINg StANDARDS
The Company adopted IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) effective for its interim
and annual ﬁnancial statements beginning April 1, 2011 with a transition date of April 1, 2010. First quarter ﬁscal 2012
interim consolidated ﬁnancial statements were the ﬁrst ﬁnancial statements of the Company to be presented on an IFRS
basis. Comparative data for all periods subsequent to March 31, 2010 have been restated to be presented on an IFRS basis,
including an opening balance sheet as at April 1, 2010.
The Company’s annual consolidated ﬁnancial statements for the year ending March 31, 2012 are the ﬁrst annual ﬁnancial
statements that comply with IFRS and these annual consolidated ﬁnancial statements were prepared as described in note 2
to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, including the application of IFRS 1. IFRS 1 requires an entity to adopt IFRS in its
ﬁrst annual ﬁnancial statements prepared under IFRS by making an explicit and unreserved statement in those ﬁnancial
statements of compliance with IFRS.
IFRS transition Impact on operating Results
The Company has assessed the effect of adoption of IFRS and the resulting changes in accounting policies based on IFRS
standards expected to be in effect at March 31, 2012. Set out below are the key differences identiﬁed that had a material
impact on the operating results of ATS in the comparative period, ﬁscal 2011.
Classiﬁcation of Solar as “Discontinued Operations”
IFRS requires that an evaluation be made as to whether non-current assets (or a disposal group) should be classiﬁed as
“held for sale” or as “held for distribution to owners” when speciﬁc criteria related to their sale or distribution are met.
Canadian GAAP requires that non-current assets to be distributed to owners continue to be classiﬁed as held and used until
disposed of. The Company determined that under IFRS, the planned separation of Solar met the criteria of non-current
assets associated with discontinued operations as of March 31, 2011 and therefore reclassiﬁed this disposal group as

30

ATS Automation Annual Report 2012

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

“associated with discontinued operations” as of March 31, 2011 and reclassiﬁed Solar’s operating results as “discontinued
operations” for the current and comparative periods presented in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Business combinations
Acquisition-related costs directly attributable to a business combination may be capitalized to the cost of the acquisition as
part of the purchase price allocation under Canadian GAAP. Under IFRS, with the exception of share issuance costs, these
costs are to be expensed as incurred. Additionally, restructuring costs included in the purchase price allocation under
Canadian GAAP are expensed under IFRS. As a result, under IFRS, the Company recorded additional expenses that reduced
net income by $4.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 compared to previously reported results under Canadian GAAP.
Revenue recognition
Construction contracts are speciﬁcally deﬁned under IFRS and require percentage-of-completion revenue recognition.
Additionally, service revenues are to be accounted for on a percentage-of-completion basis under IFRS. All revenue
contracts have been analyzed to ensure that appropriate revenue recognition criterion have been applied. Revenues
previously recognized using completed contract revenue recognition that are required to be recognized under percentageof-completion accounting under IFRS have been adjusted along with the corresponding cost of revenues and inventory
impacts. As a result, under IFRS, the Company adjusted revenues and cost of revenues recognized, which decreased net
income by $0.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2011 compared to previously reported results under Canadian GAAP.
Income taxes
Income tax is recalculated based on differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. Income taxes and equity also include
an adjustment to tax effect the share issuance costs which should be reported in equity under IFRS but are reported in
income under Canadian GAAP. As a result, under IFRS, the Company recorded decreased income tax expenses, which
increased net income by $1.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2011, compared to previously reported results under
Canadian GAAP.
For a full description of all IFRS differences, refer to note 28 of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
ACCouNtINg StANDARDS ChANgeS
Standards issued but not yet effective or amended up to the date of issuance of the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial
statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Company reasonably expects
to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements
The amendment requires additional disclosures for ﬁnancial assets that have been transferred, but not derecognized, to
enable the user of the Company’s ﬁnancial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that have not been
derecognized and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures for continuing involvement in
derecognized assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing
involvement in those derecognized assets. The amendment becomes effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after July 1,
2011. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the Company’s ﬁnancial position or results of operations.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classiﬁcation and Measurement
IFRS 9 as issued reﬂects the ﬁrst phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classiﬁcation and
measurement of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities as deﬁned in IAS 39. The standard is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of
ﬁnancial assets. The adoption of the ﬁrst phase of IFRS 9 will have an impact on the classiﬁcation and measurement of
ﬁnancial assets, but will potentially have no impact on classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial liabilities. ATS will
quantify the impact in conjunction with the other phases when issued.
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IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
This standard will replace portions of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and interpretation SIC-12,
Consolidated - Special Purpose Entities. This standard incorporates a single model for consolidating all entities that are
controlled and revises the deﬁnition of when an investor controls an investee to be when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the current ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. Along with control, the new standard also focuses on the concept of power, both of which will include a
use of judgment and a continuous reassessment as facts and circumstances change. IFRS 10 is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 10 on its
ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
This standard will replace IAS 31, Interest in Joint Ventures. The new standard will apply to the accounting for interest in joint
arrangements where there is joint control. Joint arrangements will be separated into joint ventures and joint operations. The
structure of the joint arrangement will no longer be the most signiﬁcant factor on classifying a joint arrangement as either a
joint operation or a joint venture. IFRS 11 is effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 11 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in other entities
The new standard includes disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, as well as
unconsolidated structured entities and replaces existing disclosure requirements. IFRS 12 is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 12 on its
ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
The new standard creates a single source of guidance for fair value measurement, where fair value is required or permitted
under IFRS, by not changing how fair value is used but how it is measured. The focus will be on an exit price. IFRS 13 is
effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing
the impact of IFRS 13 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendment requires ﬁnancial statements to group together items within other comprehensive income that may be
reclassiﬁed to the proﬁt or loss section of the consolidated statements of income. The amendment reaffirms existing
requirements that items in other comprehensive income and proﬁt or loss should be presented as either a single statement
or two consecutive statements. The amendment requires tax associated with items presented before tax to be shown
separately for each of the two groups of other comprehensive income items (without changing the option to present items
of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax). IAS 1 is effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after July
1, 2012, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IAS 1 on its ﬁnancial position and results of
operations.
IAS 19 – employee Beneﬁts
The amendment eliminates the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses, known as the ‘corridor method’, requires
re-measurements to be presented in other comprehensive income, and enhances the disclosure requirements for deﬁned
beneﬁt plans. The standard also requires that the discount rate used to determine the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation should also
be used to calculate the expected return on plan assets by introducing a net interest approach, which replaces the expected
return on plan assets and interest costs on the on the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation, with a single net interest component
determined by multiplying the net deﬁned beneﬁt liability or asset by the discount rate used to determine the deﬁned
beneﬁt obligation. The amendment becomes effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company
is assessing the impact of IAS 19 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
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CoNtRolS AND PRoCeDuReS
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting for the Company.
Disclosure controls and procedures
An evaluation of the design of and operating effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures was
conducted as of March 31, 2012 under the supervision of the CEO and CFO as required by CSA National Instrument 52-109 Certiﬁcation of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. The evaluation included documentation, review, enquiries
and other procedures considered appropriate in the circumstances. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and the CFO have
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries that is required to be disclosed in reports ﬁled under
provincial and territorial securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported to senior management,
including the CEO and the CFO, so that appropriate decisions can be made by them regarding required disclosure within the
time periods speciﬁed in the provincial and territorial securities legislation.
Internal control over ﬁnancial reporting
CSA National Instrument 52-109 requires the CEO and CFO to certify that they are responsible for establishing and
maintaining internal control over ﬁnancial reporting for the Company, that those internal controls have been designed and
are effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial
statements in accordance with the Company’s GAAP.
Management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls or internal controls over
ﬁnancial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud or will be effective under all potential future conditions. A
control system is subject to inherent limitations and, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control systems objectives will be met.
The CEO and CFO have, using the framework and criteria established in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, evaluated the design and operating
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting and concluded that, as of March 31, 2012, internal
controls over ﬁnancial reporting were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information related to consolidated
results and decisions to be made based on those results were appropriate.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, other than as noted below, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal
controls over ﬁnancial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting.
ATS acquired the Sortimat Group on June 1, 2010. Management has completed its assessment of the design and operating
effectiveness of disclosure controls and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting and implemented certain improvements to
the control structure.
ATS acquired ATW on January 5, 2011. Management has completed its assessment of the design and operating
effectiveness of disclosure controls and internal controls over ﬁnancial reporting and implemented certain improvements to
the control structure.
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otheR MAJoR CoNSIDeRAtIoNS AND RISK FACtoRS
Any investment in ATS will be subject to risks inherent to ATS’s business. The following risk factors are discussed in the
Company’s Annual Information Form, which may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Market volatility;
Strategy execution risks;
Competition risk;
Automation systems pricing and revenue mix risk;
First-time program and production risks;
Cyclicality;
Foreign exchange risk;
International business risks;
Pricing, quality, delivery and volume risk;
Product failure risks;
Availability of raw materials and other manufacturing inputs;
Customer risks;
New product market acceptance, obsolescence, and commercialization risk;
Liquidity and access to capital markets;
Expansion risks;
Availability of human resources and dependence on key personnel;
Intellectual property protection risks;
Risk of infringement of third parties’ intellectual property rights;
Internal controls;
Income and other taxes and uncertain tax liabilities;
Variations in quarterly results;
Share price volatility;
Litigation;
Legislative compliance;
International Financial Reporting Standards;
Dependence on performance of Subsidiaries.

Note to Readers: Forward-looking Statements:
This annual report and management's discussion and analysis of ﬁnancial conditions, and results of operations of ATS
contains certain statements that constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable securities laws
("forward-looking statements"). Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of ATS, or developments in ATS's business or
in its industry, to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance, achievements or developments expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include all disclosure regarding possible events,
conditions or results of operations that is based on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action.
Forward-looking statements may also include, without limitation, any statement relating to future events, conditions or
circumstances. ATS cautions you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking statements, which speak only
as of the date they are made. Forward-looking statements relate to, among other things: the Company’s three-phase
strategic plan; ﬁnalization of purchase agreements related to the purchase by an EDF subsidiary of the assets of PWF;
working towards concluding a transaction for the sale of the Ontario Solar business; the Company’s growth strategy;
commitment in respect of acquisitions; the Company’s value creation plan, including the strengthening of business
processes, supply chain management, approach to market, and preservation of balance sheet strength; potential impact of
global economic environment, including impact on credit markets and Order Bookings; Company’s approach to market and
expected impact on order bookings; management’s expectations in relation to the impact of strategic initiatives on ATS
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operations; expected impact of management’s focus on program management, cost reductions, standardization and
quality; expected impact of initiatives at Sortimat and ATW; management’s intention to apply additional resources to
acquisition activities; separation of solar business; expected positive impact of opportunities related to other solar assets;
sale process for Ontario Solar; expected impact of FIT program changes; OSPV securing conditional FIT approvals totalling
approximately 64 MWs related to ground mount solar projects; OSPV seeking required approvals; OSPV expectation to
have a deﬁnitive agreement in place for ﬁnancing and ultimate third-party ownership of certain projects; Ontario Solar
expectation to supply modules to OSPV; two customer agreements signed by Ontario Solar in ﬁrst quarter and expected
quantities to be supplied thereunder and timing of initial shipments; Ontario Solar agreements with developers who have
secured conditional FIT approvals; expectation that Ontario Solar will provide modules and other related services to these
projects; Company’s expectation to continue to increase its investment in working capital; foreign exchange hedging;
expectation that continued cash ﬂows from operations, together with cash and cash equivalents on hand and credit
available under operating and long-term credit facilities, will be sufficient to fund requirements for investments; and
accounting standards changes. The risks and uncertainties that may affect forward-looking statements include, among
others: impact of the global economy and the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis; general market performance including capital
market conditions and availability and cost of credit; performance of the market sectors that ATS serves; foreign currency
and exchange risk; the relative strength of the Canadian dollar; impact of factors such as increased pricing pressure and
possible margin compression; the regulatory and tax environment; inability of PWF bankruptcy trustee and EDF subsidiary
to conclude purchase agreements; that the sale process for Ontario Solar fails to generate an acceptable transaction due to
market, regulatory, or other factors; unexpected delays and issues, on the timing, form and structure of the solar
separation; inability to successfully expand organically or through acquisition, due to an inability to grow expertise,
personnel, and/or facilities at required rates or to identify, negotiate and conclude one or more acquisitions; that strategic
initiatives within ASG and targeted initiatives at Sortimat and ATW do not have intended positive impact and/or take longer
than expected; the ﬁnancial attractiveness of, and demand for, the solar projects being developed by Ontario Solar; that
OSPV is unable to reach a deﬁnitive agreement with an ultimate owner of the projects or is delayed in that regard; ability to
obtain necessary government and other certiﬁcations and approvals for solar projects in a timely fashion; supplier,
customer, employee, government and media reaction to PWF bankruptcy proceedings; labour disruptions; that
expenditures associated with the PWF bankruptcy exceed current estimates and/or proceeds from sale of other solar
assets are less than currently expected; that one or both of the customer agreements signed by Ontario Solar is terminated
or impaired as a result of a cancellation or material change in the FIT program in Ontario, and, as a result contemplated
minimum amounts to be supplied are not supplied with resulting impacts on revenue and proﬁtability; the success of
developers with whom Ontario Solar has signed agreements in ultimately developing the projects; that one or more
customers, or other persons with which the Company has contracted, experience insolvency or bankruptcy with resulting
delays, costs or losses to the Company; political, labour or supplier disruptions; the development of superior or alternative
technologies to those developed by ATS; the success of competitors with greater capital and resources in exploiting their
technology; market risk for developing technologies; risks relating to legal proceedings to which ATS is or may become a
party; exposure to product liability claims; risks associated with greater than anticipated tax liabilities or expenses; and
other risks detailed from time to time in ATS's ﬁlings with Canadian provincial securities regulators. Forward-looking
statements are based on management's current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions, and other than as
required by applicable securities laws, ATS does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should
assumptions related to these plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions change.
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Management’s Responsibility For Financial Reporting

The preparation and presentation of the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements is the responsibility of management.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The consolidated ﬁnancial statements
and other information in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Annual Report include amounts that are based on
estimates and judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements, except as described further in the “Non-IFRS Measures” section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls which are designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of ﬁnancial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as further described in the “Controls and Procedures” section
of Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
Management’s responsibilities for ﬁnancial reporting are overseen by the Board of Directors (the “Board”), which is
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. The Board carries out this
responsibility principally through its Audit and Finance Committee (the “Committee”).
The Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are independent directors. The Committee meets
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls over the ﬁnancial reporting process,
auditing matters and ﬁnancial reporting issues, to satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities
and to review the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and the external auditors’ report. The Committee has reported its
ﬁndings to the Board which has approved the consolidated ﬁnancial statements and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis for issuance to shareholders. The Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval of shareholders,
the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements have been audited on behalf of shareholders by Ernst & Young LLP, the external
auditors, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors have full and free access to
management and the Committee.

Anthony Caputo
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent Auditors' Report

to the Shareholders of AtS Automation tooling Systems Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc., which
comprise the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position as at March 31, 2012 and 2011 and April 1, 2010 and the
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash ﬂows for the years ended March
31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated ﬁnancial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated ﬁnancial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
ﬁnancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated ﬁnancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the ﬁnancial position of ATS
Automation Tooling Systems Inc. as at March 31, 2012 and 2011 and April 1, 2010 and the results of its ﬁnancial
performance and its cash ﬂows for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Toronto, Canada,
May 23, 2012.
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at
ASSetS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Costs and earnings in excess of billings
on contracts in progress
Inventories
Deposits, prepaids and other assets

$

8
8
9

Assets associated with discontinued operations

7

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Deferred income tax assets
Investment tax credit receivable
Portfolio investments
Other assets

10
11
13
12
19
19
14
9

total assets
lIABIlItIeS AND eQuIty
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provisions
Billings in excess of costs and
earnings on contracts in progress
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of obligations under ﬁnance leases

15

Liabilities associated with discontinued operations

7

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Employee beneﬁts
Long-term debt
Obligations under ﬁnance leases
Deferred income tax liability

15
16
17
17
19

17

$

117,119
72,045

April 1
2010

$

211,786
85,938

57,399
12,043
18,677
277,283
216,913
494,196

44,786
73,576
26,482
442,568
–
442,568

78,880
3,792
58,320
28,641
15,544
26,087
–
–
211,264
$ 568,628

$

86,417
3,917
58,447
31,136
16,839
20,749
1,958
–
219,463
713,659

160,547
3,910
34,350
5,411
23,686
20,878
3,602
33,380
285,764
728,332

$

$

$

18

96,229
90,151

March 31
2011

112,486
10,278
12,474
321,618
35,746
357,364

8
17
17

total liabilities
eQuIty
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings (deﬁcit)
Equity attributable to shareholders
Non-controlling interests
total equity
total liabilities and equity

March 31
2012

Note

434
113,133
9,696

4,274
93,115
9,002

$

$

26,034
91,809
11,279

44,016
263
–
167,542
9,969
177,511

29,015
259
–
135,665
134,342
270,007

31,544
10,830
4,393
175,889
–
175,889

–
6,340
2,262
–
1,063
9,665
187,176

162
5,333
3,322
–
–
8,817
278,824

4,160
4,105
4,420
18,418
–
31,103
206,992

$ 483,099
17,868
(383)
(119,210)
381,374
78
381,452
$ 568,628

$

$

$

481,908
14,298
(1,488)
(59,659)
435,059
(224)
434,835
713,659

$

$

$

481,848
11,749
2,061
25,682
521,340
–
521,340
728,332

On behalf of the Board:

David McAusland
Director

Neil D. Arnold
Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended March 31

Note

Revenues
Revenues from construction contracts
Sale of goods
Services rendered

2012

$

544,052
22,019
29,291

2011

$

417,892
36,600
30,767

total revenues

595,362

485,259

Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Gain on sale of land and building

438,728
94,516
4,857
(2,989)

371,908
74,890
2,980
–

20

earnings from operations
Net ﬁnance costs

24

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense

19

Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

7

60,250

35,481

1,565

1,057

58,685

34,424

14,670

6,565

44,015

27,859

(103,521)

(113,302)

Net loss

$

(59,506)

$

(85,443)

Attributable to
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

$

(59,588)
82
(59,506)

$

(85,276)
(167)
(85,443)

$
earnings (loss) per share attributable to shareholders
Basic and diluted – from continuing operations
Basic and diluted – from discontinued operations

$

25
$
7
$

0.51
(1.19)
(0.68)

$
$

0.32
(1.30)
(0.98)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Years ended March 31
Net loss

2012
$

(59,506)

2011
$

(85,443)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Currency translation adjustment (net of income taxes of $nil)

911

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries currency translation
adjustment (net of income taxes of $nil)

(2,853)

1,227

Net unrealized gain (loss) on derivative ﬁnancial instruments
designated as cash ﬂow hedges
Tax impact

–

(2,005)
536

2,365
(469)

Loss (gain) transferred to net loss for derivatives
designated as cash ﬂow hedges
Tax impact

478
(112)

(3,643)
965

Actuarial losses on deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans
Tax impact

(284)
82

(162)
40

Net gain on hedges of net investments in foreign
operations (net of income taxes of $nil)

70

other comprehensive income (loss)

87

903

(3,670)

Comprehensive loss

$

(58,603)

$

(89,113)

Attributable to
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

$

(58,685)
82
(58,603)

$

(88,946)
(167)
(89,113)

$

$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in equity
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

year ended March 31, 2012

Balance, at March 31, 2011
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive
income (loss)
Total comprehensive
income (loss)
Non-controlling interests
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2012

Currency
translation
adjustments

Share
capital

Contributed
surplus

Retained
earnings
(deﬁcit)

$ 481,908

$ 14,298

$ (59,659)

–

–

(59,588)

–

–

–

(202)

2,208

–

–

(59,790)

2,208

–
–
1,191
$ 483,099

–
3,951
(381)
$ 17,868

$ (2,767)

239
–
–
$ (119,210)

total
accumulated
other
Cash ﬂow comprehensive
hedges
income
$ 1,279
–

–
–
–
$

(559)

$ (1,488)

total
equity

$ (224)

$ 434,835

–

82

(1,103)

1,105

–

(1,103)

1,105

82

–
–
–

220
–
–

459
3,951
810

78

$ 381,452

–
–
–
$

Noncontrolling
interests

176

$

(383)

$

(59,506)
903
(58,603)

Year ended March 31, 2011

Share
capital
Balance, at April 1, 2010
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss
Non-controlling interests
Stock-based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2011

$ 481,848
–
–
–
–
–
60
$ 481,908

Contributed
surplus
$

11,749
–
–
–
–
2,568
(19)

$ 14,298

Retained
earnings
(deﬁcit)
$ 25,682
(85,276)
(122)
(85,398)
57
–
–
$ (59,659)

Currency
translation
adjustments
$

–
–
(2,767)
(2,767)
–
–
–

$ (2,767)

Cash ﬂow
hedges

Total
accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

$ 2,061

$ 2,061

–
(782)
(782)
–
–
–
$ 1,279

–
(3,549)
(3,549)
–
–
–
$ (1,488)

Noncontrolling
interests
$

–

Total
equity
$ 521,340

(167)
–
(167)

(85,443)
(3,671)
(89,114)

(57)
–
–

–
2,568
41

$ (224)

$ 434,835

See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Years ended March 31
operating activities:
Income from continuing operations
Items not involving cash
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Accrued employee beneﬁts
Deferred income taxes
Other items not involving cash
Stock-based compensation
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of portfolio investment

Note

2012

$

20

$
Change in non-cash operating working capital
Cash ﬂows used in operating activities of discontinued
operations
Cash ﬂows provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Business acquisition
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments
Cash ﬂows used in investing activities of discontinued operations
Cash ﬂows used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Restricted cash
Bank indebtedness
Repayment of long-term debt
Issuance of common shares
Cash ﬂows used in ﬁnancing activities of discontinued operations
Cash ﬂows provided by (used in) ﬁnancing activities

7
$

$
6

7
$

9

$

7
$

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

44,015
6,632
5,330
805
2,982
(5,338)
4,857
(2,989)
(96)
56,198
(38,396)
(43,830)
(26,028)

2011

$

$

$

(4,806)
(2,708)
–
8,003
2,054
(6,057)
(3,514)

$

7,438
(3,659)
(479)
810
(3,857)
253

$

$

$

1,713
(27,576)
124,268

27,859
6,489
3,984
2,014
2,462
(1,310)
2,980
(139)
(665)
43,674
(3,230)
(1,812)
38,632

(9,106)
(1,408)
(63,830)
2,043
2,309
(27,615)
(97,607)

(9,471)
(3,416)
(194)
41
(14,398)
(27,438)
(1,105)
(87,518)
211,786

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

96,692

$

124,268

Attributable to
Cash and cash equivalents – continuing operations
Cash and cash equivalents – associated with discontinued operations

$

$

$

96,229
463
96,692

$

117,119
7,149
124,268

$
$
$

5,929
545
958

$
$
$

3,820
316
1,313

Supplemental information
Cash income taxes paid by continuing operations
Cash interest paid by continuing operations
Cash interest paid by discontinued operations
See accompanying notes to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

1. CoRPoRAte INFoRMAtIoN
ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively “ATS” or the “Company”) operate in two segments:
Automation Systems (“ASG”) and Solar. The ASG segment produces custom-engineered turn-key automated
manufacturing and test systems. The Solar segment is a turn-key solar project developer and manufacturer of photovoltaic
products. During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Board of Directors of ATS approved a plan designed to implement the
separation of Solar from ATS via a spinoff of the Company’s combined solar businesses or a sale of Photowatt International
S.A.S. (“Photowatt France” or “PWF”) and/or the Ontario-based solar business (“Ontario Solar”). The Company determined
a sale or the spinoff alternative was not viable. Consequently, the Board of Directors of ATS approved a plan to facilitate
PWF to ﬁle for judicial bankruptcy protection in France. On November 8, 2011 (the “Bankruptcy Date”), the French
bankruptcy court placed PWF into a “recovery” proceeding (“redressement judiciaire”) under the supervision of a court
appointed trustee. The Company concluded that it ceased to have the ability to exert control over PWF as of the
Bankruptcy Date. Accordingly, the Company’s investment in PWF has been deconsolidated from the Company’s
consolidated ﬁnancial statements beginning on the Bankruptcy Date. Management reduced the carrying value of the
Company’s equity investment in PWF to $nil. The results of PWF up to the Bankruptcy Date are presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated statements of income. During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company initiated a
formal sale process for the Ontario Solar business. Ontario Solar is presented as assets and liabilities associated with
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position and as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of income. See note 7 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. As a result, ATS’s continuing
operations are reported as one operating segment, ASG. See note 22 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and is incorporated and domiciled in Ontario, Canada. The address
of its registered office is 730 Fountain Street North, Cambridge, Ontario, Canada.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2012 were authorized for issue by the
Board of Directors on May 23, 2012.
2. BASIS oF PRePARAtIoN
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as
modiﬁed by the revaluation of available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets, and ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through proﬁt or loss or other comprehensive income. All consolidated ﬁnancial
information is presented in Canadian dollars and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, except where otherwise
stated.
Statement of compliance
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements represent the ﬁrst annual ﬁnancial statements of the Company prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). The Company adopted IFRS in accordance with IFRS 1, - First-time Adoption of IFRS (“IFRS 1”), as
discussed in note 28.
Basis of consolidation
These consolidated ﬁnancial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are those
entities where the Company directly or indirectly owns the majority of the voting power or can otherwise control the
activities. The ﬁnancial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company,
using consistent accounting policies. Non-controlling interests in the equity and results of the Company’s subsidiaries are
presented separately in the consolidated statements of income and within equity in the consolidated statements of
ﬁnancial position.
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Note 2 (continued)
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All material intercompany balances, transactions,
revenues and expenses and proﬁts or losses, including dividends resulting from intercompany transactions, have been
eliminated on consolidation.
3. SuMMARy oF SIgNIFICANt ACCouNtINg PolICIeS
(a) Business combinations and goodwill: Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
cost of the acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition date fair
value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Company
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identiﬁable net assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.
When the Company acquires a business, it assesses the ﬁnancial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classiﬁcation and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions
at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be
recognized in accordance with IAS 39 either in proﬁt or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is classiﬁed as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate IFRS policy.
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of the net identiﬁable
assets of the acquiree at the date of acquisition.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) or groups of CGUs based on the level at which
management monitors it. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to beneﬁt from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose.
Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.
(b) Interest in joint ventures: The Company has interests in jointly controlled entities, whereby the venturers have a
contractual arrangement that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the individual entity. The Company
accounts for its share of the joint ventures by using the proportionate consolidation method. Under this method, the
Company recognizes its proportionate share of the joint venture’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements. The ﬁnancial statements of the joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting period
as the parent Company.
(c) Foreign currency: Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the reporting
entity operates and is normally the currency in which the entity generates and uses cash. Each entity in the Company
determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar.
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Note 3 (continued)
Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rate at the
reporting date. All differences are recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value is determined.
Translation
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at period end exchange rates and their
revenue and expense items are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The resulting exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
(d) Revenue recognition: Revenues are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic beneﬁts will ﬂow to
the Company and the revenues can be reliably measured. Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration
received, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duties. The following speciﬁc recognition criteria must be met
before revenues are recognized:
Sale of goods
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognized when the signiﬁcant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
transferred to the buyer, usually on the delivery of goods or transfer of title to the customer.
Rendering of services
Revenues from services rendered are recognized when the stage of completion can be measured reliably. Service revenues
include maintenance contracts, extended warranty, and other services provided. Stage of completion of the contract is
determined as follows:
•

Revenues from time and material contracts are recognized at the contractual rates as labour hours are delivered and
direct expenses are incurred.

•

Revenues from long-term service contracts are recognized on a percentage of completion basis over the term of the
contracts, unless there is a pattern of recognition that more accurately represents the stage of completion.

Construction contracts
Revenues from construction contracts are recognized using the percentage of completion method. The degree of
completion is determined based on costs incurred, excluding costs that are not representative of progress to completion, as
a percentage of total costs anticipated for each contract. Incentive awards, claims or penalty provisions are recognized
when such amounts are likely to occur and can reasonably be estimated. When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenues are recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable. A complete provision is made for losses on contracts in progress when such losses ﬁrst become known.
Revisions in cost and proﬁt estimates, which can be signiﬁcant, are reﬂected in the accounting period in which the relevant
facts become known.
(e) Investment tax credits and government grants: Investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction in the cost of
the related asset or expense where there is reasonable assurance that such credits will be realized. Government grants are
recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions will be complied with.
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Note 3 (continued)
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is deducted from the cost that it is intended to compensate. When the grant relates
to an asset, it is deducted from the cost of the related asset. If a grant becomes repayable, the inception to date impact of the
assistance previously recognized in earnings is reversed immediately in the period that the assistance becomes repayable.
(f) taxes:
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that
are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date, in the countries where the Company operates and generates
taxable income. Current income tax related to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the
consolidated statements of income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for ﬁnancial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred taxes are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting proﬁt nor taxable proﬁt or loss.

•

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable proﬁt will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:
•

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting proﬁt nor taxable proﬁt or loss.

•

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable proﬁt will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that all or part of the deferred tax asset will be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable the beneﬁt will be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Note 3 (continued)
Deferred tax related to items recognized outside proﬁt or loss is recognized outside proﬁt or loss. Deferred tax items are
recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Tax beneﬁts acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that date,
would be recognized subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances changed. The adjustment would
either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it is incurred during the measurement
period or in proﬁt or loss.
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except where the sales tax incurred on a
purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable. Receivables and payables are stated
with the amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position.
(g) Non-current assets classiﬁed as assets associated with discontinued operations and discontinued operations:
Non-current assets classiﬁed as assets associated with discontinued operations are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets are classiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations if their
carrying amounts will be de-recognized principally through a sale transaction rather than recovered through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as being met only when the transaction is highly probable and the assets are available for
immediate sale in their present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed transaction within one year from the date of classiﬁcation. In the consolidated statement of
income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period, revenues and expenses from discontinued operations are
reported separately from revenues and expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of net loss after income
taxes.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations are not
depreciated or amortized.
(h) Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing component parts of the property, plant
and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When signiﬁcant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, ATS derecognizes the replaced part, and
recognizes the new part with its own associated useful life and depreciation. Likewise, when a major inspection is
performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the
recognition criteria are satisﬁed. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of
income as incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Production equipment
Other equipment

25 to 40 years
3 to 10 years
3 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the related lease or their remaining useful life on a
straight-line basis.
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Note 3 (continued)
An item of property, plant and equipment and any signiﬁcant part initially recognized is derecognized upon disposal or
when no future economic beneﬁts are expected from its use or eventual disposition. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the consolidated statements of income when the asset is derecognized.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each ﬁnancial year end and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.
(i) leases: The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulﬁllment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a speciﬁc asset or the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly speciﬁed in an arrangement.
Finance leases, which transfer to ATS substantially all the risks and beneﬁts incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between ﬁnance charges and the reduction of the lease
liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income.
Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that ATS will
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the
lease term.
Leases where ATS does not assume substantially all of the risks and beneﬁts of ownership of the asset are classiﬁed as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
(j) Borrowing costs: Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of
the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.
(k) Investment property: Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rental income and/or capital
appreciation, are measured at acquisition cost less straight-line depreciation and impairment losses. The depreciation
policy for investment property is consistent with the policy for owner-occupied property.
(l) Intangible assets: Acquired intangible assets are primarily software, patents, customer relationships, brands,
technologies, and licenses. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recorded at fair market value and
subsequently at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed as either ﬁnite or indeﬁnite.
Intangible assets with ﬁnite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives, ranging from 3 to 20 years, on a straightline basis. Intangible assets with ﬁnite lives are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a ﬁnite useful life
is reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of
consumption of future economic beneﬁts embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or
method, as appropriate, and is treated as a change in accounting estimate. The amortization expense on intangible assets
with ﬁnite lives is recognized in the consolidated statements of income in the expense category consistent with the function
of the intangible assets.
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Note 3 (continued)
Intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives, primarily brands, are not amortized. The Company assesses the indeﬁnite life
at each reporting date to determine if there is an indication that an intangible asset may be impaired. If any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for the intangible asset is required, the Company estimates the recoverable
amount at the CGU level to determine whether the indeﬁnite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life
from indeﬁnite to ﬁnite is made on a prospective basis. An asset is impaired when the recoverable amount is less than their
carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value in use.
Impairment losses relating to intangible assets are evaluated for potential reversals when events or changes in
circumstances warrant such consideration.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss when the asset is
derecognized.
Research and development expenditures
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures, on an individual project, are recognized as an
intangible asset only when the following conditions are demonstrated:
•

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

•

Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset.

•

How the asset will generate future economic beneﬁts.

•

The availability of resources to complete the asset.

•

The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins
when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future beneﬁt.
Amortization is recorded in cost of revenues. In the event that a product program for which costs have been deferred is
modiﬁed or cancelled, the Company will assess the recoverability of the deferred costs and if considered unrecoverable, will
expense the costs in the period the assessment is made.
(m) Financial instruments:
Financial assets
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. ATS determines the classiﬁcation of its ﬁnancial assets at initial
recognition.
All ﬁnancial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.
ATS’s ﬁnancial assets include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments in equities included in portfolio
investments, and derivative ﬁnancial instruments.
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Note 3 (continued)
The subsequent measurement of ﬁnancial assets depends on their classiﬁcation as follows:
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss include ﬁnancial assets held for trading and ﬁnancial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through proﬁt or loss. Financial assets are classiﬁed as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative ﬁnancial instruments
entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classiﬁed as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss are carried in the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial
position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated statements of loss.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such ﬁnancial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. The effective
interest rate method amortization is included in net ﬁnance costs in the consolidated statements of income. The losses
arising from impairment are recognized in the consolidated statements of income in net ﬁnance costs.
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets include equity securities, which are neither classiﬁed as held for trading nor designated at
fair value through proﬁt or loss.
After initial measurement, available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains
or losses recognized in other comprehensive loss until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognized in other operating income, or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss is reclassiﬁed
to the consolidated statements of income and removed from other comprehensive income.
Derecognition
A ﬁnancial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash ﬂows from the asset have expired or the Company has
transferred its rights to receive cash ﬂows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash ﬂows in full
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either the Company has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or ATS has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
ATS assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a ﬁnancial asset or a group of ﬁnancial assets
is impaired. A ﬁnancial asset or a group of ﬁnancial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash ﬂows of the ﬁnancial asset or the group of ﬁnancial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other ﬁnancial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash ﬂows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
For ﬁnancial assets carried at amortized cost, the Company ﬁrst assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for ﬁnancial assets that are individually signiﬁcant, or collectively for ﬁnancial assets that are not individually
signiﬁcant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed ﬁnancial
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Note 3 (continued)
asset, whether signiﬁcant or not, it includes the asset in a group of ﬁnancial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows (excluding future
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash ﬂows is discounted
at the ﬁnancial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.
For available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that an asset or a group of assets is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classiﬁed as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a signiﬁcant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. ‘Signiﬁcant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of
impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the consolidated statements of income — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Impairment losses on equity
investments are not reversed through the statements of consolidated income; increases in their fair value after
impairments are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classiﬁed as ﬁnancial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company
determines the classiﬁcation of its ﬁnancial liabilities at initial recognition.
All ﬁnancial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, carried at amortized cost.
This includes directly attributable transaction costs.
The Company’s ﬁnancial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness, long-term debt, and
derivative ﬁnancial instruments.
The measurement of ﬁnancial liabilities depends on their classiﬁcation as follows:
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss include ﬁnancial liabilities held for trading and ﬁnancial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through proﬁt or loss.
Financial liabilities are classiﬁed as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative ﬁnancial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as deﬁned by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classiﬁed as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statements of income.
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Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss when the liabilities
are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate method amortization process.
Derecognition
A ﬁnancial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.
When an existing ﬁnancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modiﬁed, such an exchange or modiﬁcation is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized
in the consolidated statements of income.
Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments
The Company primarily applies the market approach for recurring fair value measurements. Three levels of inputs may be
used to measure fair value:
Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data
Level 3 – unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity
(n) Derivative ﬁnancial instruments and hedge accounting: The Company may use derivative ﬁnancial instruments
such as forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk,
respectively. Derivative ﬁnancial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as ﬁnancial assets when the fair value
is positive and as ﬁnancial liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of derivatives are recorded directly in the consolidated statements of income, except for the effective portion of cash ﬂow
hedges and hedges of net investments, which are recognized in other comprehensive income.
The Company designates certain derivative ﬁnancial instruments as either fair value hedges, cash ﬂow hedges, or hedges of
net investments in foreign operations. The application of hedge accounting enables the recording of gains, losses, revenues
and expenses from hedging items in the same period as those related to the hedged item. At the inception of a hedge
relationship, the Company formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Company wishes to
apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation
includes identiﬁcation of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and
how the entity will assess and measure the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting the
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash ﬂows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected
to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash ﬂows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to
determine whether they have actually been highly effective throughout the ﬁnancial reporting periods for which they were
designated.
Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:
Cash ﬂow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly as other comprehensive income,
while any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of income.
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Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated statements of income when the
hedged transaction affects proﬁt or loss, such as when the hedged ﬁnancial income or ﬁnancial expense is recognized.
Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-ﬁnancial asset or non-ﬁnancial liability, the amounts recognized in other
comprehensive income are transferred at the initial carrying amount of the non-ﬁnancial asset or liability.
If the forecasted transaction or ﬁrm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statements of income. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or
loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income until the forecasted
transaction or ﬁrm commitment affects proﬁt or loss.
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk on anticipated
revenue and ﬁrm commitments. The Company uses interest rate swap contracts with approved ﬁnancial institutions to
reduce its exposure to ﬂoating interest rates.
Hedges of net investments
Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the
net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash ﬂow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument related to
the effective portion of the hedge are recognized as other comprehensive income while any gains or losses related to the
ineffective portion are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. On disposal of the foreign operation, the
cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the consolidated statements of income.
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its
investments in foreign subsidiaries.
(o) Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value on a ﬁrst-in, ﬁrst-out basis. The cost of
raw materials includes purchase cost and costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition. The
cost of work in progress and ﬁnished goods includes cost of raw materials, labour and related manufacturing overhead,
excluding borrowing costs, based on normal operating capacity. Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of
gains and losses on qualifying cash ﬂow hedges in respect of the purchase of raw materials. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
(p) Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets: The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication
that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inﬂows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash ﬂows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reﬂects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speciﬁc to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such
transactions can be identiﬁed, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment on inventories, are recognized in the consolidated
statements of income in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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Note 3 (continued)
(q) Provisions: Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outﬂow of resources embodying economic beneﬁts will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a
provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated
statements of income net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reﬂects, where appropriate, the risks speciﬁc to the liability. Where discounting
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a ﬁnance cost.
Warranty provisions
Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognized when the product is sold or the service provided. Initial recognition is
based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and adjusted to reﬂect the current best estimate.
Restructuring provisions
Restructuring provisions are only recognized when general recognition criteria for provisions are fulﬁlled. Additionally, the
Company needs to have in place a detailed formal plan about the business or part of the business concerned, the location
and number of employees affected, a detailed estimate of the associated costs and the appropriate time-line. The people
affected have a valid expectation that the restructuring is being carried out or the implementation has been initiated
already.
(r) employee beneﬁts: The Company operates pension plans in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in
the respective countries in which the Company conducts business. The pension beneﬁts are provided through deﬁned
beneﬁt and deﬁned contribution plans. The cost of providing beneﬁts under the deﬁned beneﬁt plans is determined
separately for each plan using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the
period in which they occur in other comprehensive income.
The past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the beneﬁts
become vested. If the beneﬁts have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan,
past service costs are recognized immediately.
The deﬁned beneﬁt asset or liability comprises the present value of the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation (using a discount rate as
explained in note 4), less past service costs and actuarial gains and losses not yet recognized and less the fair value of plan
assets out of which the obligations are to be settled. Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee beneﬁt
fund or qualifying insurance policies. Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid
directly to the Company. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case of quoted securities it is the
published bid price. The value of any deﬁned beneﬁt asset recognized is restricted to the sum of any past service costs and
actuarial gains and losses not yet recognized and the present value of any economic beneﬁts available in the form of
refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.
(s) Share-based payments: The Company operates both equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation
plans under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the
Company or cash payments.
For equity-settled plans namely the Employee Share Purchase Plan and the Stock Option Plan, the fair value determined at
the grant date is expensed on a proportionate basis consistent with the vesting features of each grant and incorporates an
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The total amount to be expensed is determined by
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Note 3 (continued)
reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting
conditions (for example, proﬁtability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a speciﬁed time period).
At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in the
consolidated statements of income with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The proceeds received, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital and share premiums when the options are exercised.
For cash-settled plans namely the Deferred Stock Unit Plan, the expense is determined based on the fair value of the
liability incurred at each award date and at each subsequent statement of ﬁnancial position date until the award is settled.
The fair value of the liability is measured by applying quoted market prices. Changes in fair value are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income in stock-based compensation expense.
4. CRItICAl ACCouNtINg eStIMAteS AND JuDgMeNtS
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability
affected in future periods.
The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated ﬁnancial statements
were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reﬂected in the assumptions when
they occur.
The following are the critical judgments, estimates and assumptions that have been made in applying the Company’s
accounting policies and that have the most signiﬁcant effect on the amounts in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements:
eStIMAteS
(a) Revenue recognition and contracts in progress: Revenues on construction contracts are recognized on a
percentage of completion basis as outlined in note 3(d) “Construction Contracts”. In applying the accounting policy on
construction contracts, judgment is required in determining the estimated costs to complete a contract. These cost
estimates are reviewed at each reporting period and by their nature may give rise to income volatility.
(b) Income taxes: Deferred tax assets, disclosed in note 19, are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable
income will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Signiﬁcant management judgment is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
income together with future tax planning strategies.
If the assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the deferred tax asset changes, the Company would be required to
recognize more or fewer of the deferred tax assets which would increase or decrease income tax expense in the period in
which this is determined. The Company establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates for possible consequences
of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on
various factors, such as experience of previous taxation audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable
entity and the respective tax authority. These provisions for uncertain tax positions are made using the best estimate of the
amount expected to be paid based on a qualitative assessment of all the relevant factors. The Company reviews the
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Note 4 (continued)
adequacy of these provisions at each quarter. However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could
result from audits by the taxation authorities. Where the ﬁnal tax outcome of these matters is different from the amount
initially recorded, such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
(c) Share-based payment transactions: The Company measures the cost of transactions with employees by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based payment
transactions requires the determination of the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and
conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model
including the expected life of the share option, weighted average risk-free interest rate, volatility and dividend yield and
making assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment
transactions are disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
(d) Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets: Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. As disclosed in note
13 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the calculations involve signiﬁcant estimates and assumptions. Items
estimated include cash ﬂows, discount rates and assumptions on revenue growth rates. These estimates could effect the
Company’s future results if the current estimates of future performance and fair values change.
(e) Provisions: As described in note 3(q) to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements, the Company records a provision when
an obligation exists, an outﬂow of economic resources required to settle the obligation is probable and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The Company records a provision based on the best estimate of the required
economic outﬂow to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. While management believes these estimates
are reasonable, differences in actual results or changes in estimates could have a material impact on the obligations and
expenses reported by the Company.
(f) Pensions: The cost of deﬁned beneﬁt pension plans and the present value of the pension obligations are determined
using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual
developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates
and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature,
a deﬁned beneﬁt obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each
reporting date.
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest rates of corporate bonds
in the respective currency, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected duration of the deﬁned beneﬁt
obligation. The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the speciﬁc country. Future salary increases
and pension increases are based on expected future inﬂation rates for the respective country.
Further details about the assumptions used are provided in note 16.
JuDgMeNtS
(a) Discontinued operations: In ﬁscal 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a plan designed to implement
the separation of Solar from ATS. Ontario Solar is currently presented as assets and liabilities classiﬁed as associated with
discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position and as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of income. The Company has initiated a formal sale process for the Ontario Solar business. Net
assets associated with discontinued operations should not be carried at amounts that exceed estimated fair value less
costs to effect the sale. In this regard, management believes that the net assets of Ontario Solar are carried in these
ﬁnancial statements at amounts that do not exceed their estimated fair values.
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5. FutuRe ACCouNtINg ChANgeS
Standards issued but not yet effective or amended up to the date of issuance of the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial
statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Company reasonably expects
to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt these standards when they become effective.
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures — enhanced Derecognition Disclosure Requirements
The amendment requires additional disclosures for ﬁnancial assets that have been transferred, but not derecognized, to
enable the user of the Company’s ﬁnancial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that have not been
derecognized and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures for continuing involvement in
derecognized assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s continuing
involvement in those derecognized assets. The amendment becomes effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after
July 1, 2011. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no impact on the Company’s ﬁnancial position or results of
operations.
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classiﬁcation and Measurement
IFRS 9 as issued reﬂects the ﬁrst phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classiﬁcation and
measurement of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities as deﬁned in IAS 39. The standard is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment of
ﬁnancial assets. The adoption of the ﬁrst phase of IFRS 9 will have an impact on the classiﬁcation and measurement of
ﬁnancial assets, but will potentially have no impact on classiﬁcation and measurement of ﬁnancial liabilities. The Company
will quantify the impact in conjunction with the other phases when issued.
IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
This standard will replace portions of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and interpretation SIC-12,
Consolidated - Special Purpose Entities. This standard incorporates a single model for consolidating all entities that are
controlled and revises the deﬁnition of when an investor controls an investee to be when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the current ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee. Along with control, the new standard also focuses on the concept of power, both of which will include a
use of judgment and a continuous reassessment as facts and circumstances change. IFRS 10 is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 10 on its
ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
This standard will replace IAS 31, Interest in Joint Ventures. The new standard will apply to the accounting for interest in joint
arrangements where there is joint control. Joint arrangements will be separated into joint ventures and joint operations. The
structure of the joint arrangement will no longer be the most signiﬁcant factor on classifying a joint arrangement as either a
joint operation or a joint venture. IFRS 11 is effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 11 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interest in other entities
The new standard includes disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, as well as
unconsolidated structured entities and replaces existing disclosure requirements. IFRS 12 is effective for ﬁscal periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IFRS 12 on its
ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
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Note 5 (continued)
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
The new standard creates a single source of guidance for fair value measurement, where fair value is required or permitted
under IFRS, by not changing how fair value is used but how it is measured. The focus will be on an exit price. IFRS 13 is
effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing
the impact of IFRS 13 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
The amendment requires ﬁnancial statements to group together items within other comprehensive income that may be
reclassiﬁed to the proﬁt or loss section of the consolidated statements of income. The amendment reaffirms existing
requirements that items in other comprehensive income and proﬁt or loss should be presented as either a single statement
or two consecutive statements. The amendment requires tax associated with items presented before tax to be shown
separately for each of the two groups of other comprehensive income items (without changing the option to present items
of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax). IAS 1 is effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after July
1, 2012, with early adoption permitted. The Company is assessing the impact of IAS 1 on its ﬁnancial position and results of
operations.
IAS 19 – employee Beneﬁts
The amendment eliminates the option to defer the recognition of gains and losses, known as the ‘corridor method’, requires
re-measurements to be presented in other comprehensive income, and enhances the disclosure requirements for deﬁned
beneﬁt plans. The standard also requires that the discount rate used to determine the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation should also
be used to calculate the expected return on plan assets by introducing a net interest approach, which replaces the expected
return on plan assets and interest costs on the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation, with a single net interest component determined
by multiplying the net deﬁned beneﬁt liability or asset by the discount rate used to determine the deﬁned beneﬁt obligation.
The amendment becomes effective for ﬁscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company is assessing the
impact of IAS 19 on its ﬁnancial position and results of operations.
6. ACQuISItIoNS
(a) Sortimat: On June 1, 2010, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of Sortimat Group (“Sortimat”). Sortimat
is a manufacturer of assembly systems for the life sciences market and is headquartered in Germany with locations in
Chicago and India. Sortimat has been integrated into the Company’s ASG segment. The Sortimat acquisition aligns with
ATS’s strategy of expanding its position in the global automation market and enhancing growth opportunities, particularly in
strategic markets such as life sciences.
The total cash consideration for Sortimat is $49,450 (38,474 Euro). This amount excludes potential future payments of up
to $8,495 (6,610 Euro), which are payable subject to the achievement of milestones related to operating performance and
speciﬁc management services to be provided over two years from the acquisition date. The milestones related to operating
performance are not expected to be achieved and therefore the Company determined the fair value of these potential
future payments to be $nil. The amounts payable related to the speciﬁc management services are recognized as they are
earned through the consolidated statements of income. During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company recognized in
selling, general and administrative expenses of $1,514 related to speciﬁc management services (March 31, 2011 – $1,497).
Acquisition-related costs, primarily for advisory services, of $2,710 were expensed as incurred during the year ended
March 31, 2011.
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Note 6 (continued)
Cash used in the investment is determined as follows:
Cash consideration
Less cash acquired

$
$

49,450
(1,473)
47,977

The consideration was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at
the date of acquisition. The non-controlling interest was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identiﬁable
net assets. The Company determined the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed based on discounted
cash ﬂows, market information, independent valuations and management’s estimates. The allocation of the purchase price
at fair value is as follows:
Purchase price allocation
Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other long-term assets
Intangible assets with a deﬁnite life
Technology
Customer relationships
Other
Intangible assets with an indeﬁnite life
Brands
Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Net identiﬁable assets
Non-controlling interest
Residual purchase price allocated to goodwill

$

1,473
18,419
9,100
385
9,640
12,981
767

$

4,370
(27,834)
(3,590)
25,711
55
23,684
49,450

Non-cash working capital includes accounts receivable of $8,372, representing gross contractual amounts receivable of
$9,169 less management’s best estimate of the contractual cash ﬂows not expected to be collected of $797.
The primary factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill are: the existing
Sortimat business; the acquired workforce; signiﬁcant experience and products in advanced system development,
manufacturing, handling and feeder technologies; time-to-market beneﬁts of acquiring an established organization in key
international markets such as Europe, Asia and the United States; and the combined strategic value to the Company’s
growth plan. For tax purposes $8,175 of the goodwill is deductible.
The consideration of the purchase price along with transaction costs were funded from existing cash on hand. This
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination with the Company as the acquirer of Sortimat. The purchase
method of accounting was used and the earnings have been consolidated from the acquisition date, June 1, 2010.
(b) Assembly & test Worldwide (“AtW”): On January 5, 2011, the Company completed its acquisition of the majority of
Assembly & Test Worldwide, Inc.’s U.S.-based and German automation and test systems businesses (collectively “ATW”).
ATW is a manufacturer of assembly and test systems with capability in the transportation, life sciences and energy markets.
ATW has been integrated into the Company’s ASG segment.
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Note 6 (continued)
The total cash consideration for ATW was $17,285 ($17,377 US). Acquisition-related costs, primarily for advisory services, of
$1,109 were expensed as incurred during the year ended March 31, 2011.
Cash used in the investment is determined as follows:
Cash consideration
Less cash acquired

$
$

17,285
(1,432)
15,853

The consideration was allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at
the date of acquisition. The Company determined the fair values based on discounted cash ﬂows, market information,
independent valuations and management’s estimates. The non-controlling interest was measured at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identiﬁable net assets. The allocation of the purchase price at fair value is as follows:
Purchase price allocation
Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets with a deﬁnite life
Customer relationships
Other
Current liabilities
Deﬁned beneﬁt pension obligation
Net identiﬁable assets
Non-controlling interest
Residual purchase price allocated to goodwill

$

$

1,432
28,673
1,154
1,700
74
(21,223)
(426)
11,384
(61)
5,962
17,285

Non-cash working capital includes accounts receivable of $13,677, representing gross contractual amounts receivable of
$13,826 less management’s best estimate of the contractual cash ﬂows not expected to be collected of $149.
The primary factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulted in the recognition of goodwill are: the existing ATW
business; the acquired workforce; signiﬁcant experience and products in the automation and test systems businesses;
time-to-market beneﬁts of acquiring an established organization in key international markets such as the United States and
Europe; and the combined strategic value to the Company’s growth plan. For tax purposes $5,962 of the goodwill is
deductible.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, changes to the purchase price allocation resulted in a decrease in goodwill of $764,
an increase in property, plant and equipment of $164 and an increase in intangible assets of $600.
The consideration of the purchase price along with transaction costs were funded from existing cash on hand. This
acquisition was accounted for as a business combination with the Company as the acquirer of ATW. The purchase method
of accounting was used and the earnings have been consolidated from the acquisition date, January 5, 2011.
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7. DISCoNtINueD oPeRAtIoNS
During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Board of Directors of ATS approved a plan designed to implement the separation
of Solar from ATS. On November 8, 2011, the “Bankruptcy Date”, the French bankruptcy court placed PWF into a “recovery”
proceeding (“redressement judiciaire”) under the supervision of a court appointed trustee. As a result of this, the Company
concluded that it ceased to have the ability to exert control over PWF as of the Bankruptcy Date. Accordingly, the
Company’s investment in PWF was deconsolidated from the Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements beginning on the
Bankruptcy Date. Management reduced the carrying value of the Company’s equity investment in PWF to $nil. On February
27, 2012, a subsidiary of the EDF group, the French electricity utility, was selected by the French bankruptcy court to
purchase the assets of PWF. The entire workforce of PWF was subsequently transferred to the purchaser or offered to be
transferred within the purchaser’s group. Effective March 1, 2012, the purchaser assumed control over the operations of
PWF. The conﬁrmation of a new operator for the PWF business concluded ATS’s operating support of PWF. As is
customary in France, the purchaser and the court appointed trustee were granted a period of time (ending in June, 2012) to
ﬁnalize the purchase agreements relating to the PWF assets. These agreements, which will complete the transfer of the
legal ownership of those assets, are still being ﬁnalized.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company initiated a formal sale process for the Ontario Solar business.
March 31
2012
Revenues
Operating costs and expenses

$

loss from discontinued operations

$

(98,493)

Net ﬁnance costs

216,211
328,063
(111,852)

704

Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes

1,174

(99,197)

Income tax expense
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

116,228
214,721

March 31
2011

(113,026)

4,324

276

$

(103,521)

$

(113,302)

$

(1.19)

$

(1.30)

loss per share
Basic and diluted - from discontinued operations

Included in the year ended March 31, 2012 loss from discontinued operations was $24,125 of non-cash charges related to
the write-down of inventory to its net realizable value, following declines in market average selling prices due to changes in
European feed-in tariffs and excess module supply in the European solar industry.
Included in the year ended March 31, 2012 loss from discontinued operations was $24,070 (17,475 Euro) of charges related
to the termination of certain silicon and wafer supply contracts as the contractual prices were in excess of current spot
market levels including non-cash asset impairment charges of $19,938 (14,475 Euro). Also included in the year ended March
31, 2012 is a non-cash charge of $8,824 related to silicon deposits which the Company does not expect to utilize.
Included in the year ended March 31, 2012, is non-cash charges of $3,073 for receivables that are not expected to be
recovered.
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Note 7 (continued)
Included in the year ended March 31, 2012, is non-cash ﬁxed asset and goodwill impairment charges of $5,522 to write
down assets to their expected recoverable amounts.
Included in the year ended March 31, 2012 is non-cash charges of $4,383 for the write-off of deferred tax assets as the
Company no longer expects to realize the beneﬁt of those deferred tax assets.
Included in the year ended March 31, 2012 consolidated statement of comprehensive loss is a non-cash charge of $1,227
related to currency translation adjustments for the deconsolidated subsidiaries now realized in the consolidated statement
of income.
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Solar classiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations are as follows:
March 31
2012

Note
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress
Inventories
Deposits and prepaid assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred income taxes
Goodwill
Other assets and silicon deposits
Assets associated with discontinued operations
liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provisions
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress
Long-term debt
Obligations under ﬁnance leases
Deﬁned beneﬁt plan
Liabilities associated with discontinued operations
Net assets directly associated with disposal group

62

$

8
9
10
12
13
$

17

$

15
17
17
$
$

463
8,006
–
7,655
2,813
14,783
–
–
–
2,026
35,746

–
8,458
1,511
–
–
–
–
9,969
25,777

March 31
2011
$

$

$

$
$

7,149
36,732
7,964
83,114
14,607
22,995
3,169
4,509
5,149
31,525
216,913

548
56,181
19,330
8,496
27,634
21,227
926
134,342
82,571
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8. CoNStRuCtIoN CoNtRACtS AND INVeNtoRIeS
March 31
2012
Contracts in progress:
Costs incurred
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Estimated earnings
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Progress billings
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

Total
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations
Continuing operations

114,566
–
114,566

$
$
$
$

$ (564,829)
–
$ (564,829)

$

$

68,470
–
68,470

$

112,486
(44,016)
68,470

$

$

Disclosed as:
Costs and earnings in excess of billings on contracts in progress
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on contracts in progress

518,733
–
518,733

March 31
2011

$
$

$

$

$

March 31
2012
Inventories are summarized as follows:
Raw materials
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Work in process
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Finished goods
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Total
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
note 7
$

63

5,534
(489)
5,045

505,987
(94,590)
411,397
116,231
(21,216)
95,015
(594,366)
116,338
(478,028)

April 1
2010
$
$
$
$
$
$

27,852
532
28,384

$

57,399
(29,015)
28,384

$

$

$

March 31
2011
$
$

10,890
(5,914)
4,976

$

1,509
(1,252)
257

$

17,933
(7,655)
10,278

$

$

$

$

45,118
(38,307)
6,811

345,246
–
345,246
81,704
–
81,704
(413,708)
–
(413,708)
13,242
–
13,242

44,786
(31,544)
13,242
April 1
2010

$
$

20,480
(15,846)
4,634

$

29,559
(28,961)
598

$

95,157
(83,114)
12,043

$

$

$

$

41,048
–
41,048
8,333
–
8,333
24,195
–
24,195
73,576
–
73,576
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Note 8 (continued)
From continuing operations:
The amount charged to net loss and included in cost of revenues for the write-down of inventory for valuation issues during
the year ended March 31, 2012 was $753 (March 31, 2011 – $2,051). The amount recognized in net loss and included in cost
of revenues for the reversal of previous inventory write-downs due to rising prices during the year ended March 31, 2012
was $nil (March 31, 2011 – $1,079). The amount of inventories carried at net realizable value as at March 31, 2012 was $61
(March 31, 2011 – $206).
From discontinued operations:
The amount charged to net loss and included in discontinued operations for the write-down of inventory for valuation issues
during the year ended March 31, 2012 was $24,491 (March 31, 2011 – $7,203). The amount recognized in net loss and
included in discontinued operations for the reversal of previous inventory write-downs due to rising prices during the year
ended March 31, 2012 was $nil (March 31, 2011 – $nil). The amount of inventories carried at net realizable value as at
March 31, 2012 was $489 (March 31, 2011 – $74,950).
9. DePoSItS, PRePAIDS AND otheR ASSetS
i) Deposits and Prepaid Assets

Prepaid assets
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

Restricted cash (i)
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

March 31
2012
$
3,971
(32)
$
3,939

$

$

$

$
Silicon and other deposits (ii)
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Forward contracts
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Other assets – current
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
$

Total deposits, prepaids and other assets
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

$
note 7
$

64

413
–
413

$

$

9,373
(2,781)
6,592

$

500
–
500

$

$

$

1,030
–
1,030

$

15,287
(2,813)
12,474

$

$

$

March 31
2011
4,777
(2,168)
2,609
8,211
–
8,211

$
$
$
$

17,834
(12,372)
5,462

$

2,356
(67)
2,289

$

106
–
106
33,284
(14,607)
18,677

$

$
$
$
$
$

April 1
2010
4,231
–
4,231
582
–
582
16,335
–
16,335
4,223
–
4,223
1,111
–
1,111
26,482
–
26,482
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Note 9 (continued)
ii) other Assets – long term

Silicon deposits(ii)
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations

Other asset – long term
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations

March 31
2012
$
–
–
$
–

$

$

2,026
(2,026)
–

$

2,026
(2,026)
–

$

$
Total other assets – long term
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations

$
note 7
$

March 31
2011
28,159
(28,159)
–

$

$

$

$
$

3,366
(3,366)
–

$

31,525
(31,525)
–

$

$

$

April 1
2010
32,389
–
32,389
991
–
991
33,380
–
33,380

(i)

Restricted cash primarily consists of cash collateralized to secure letters of credit.
At March 31, 2012, other deposits consist of supplier deposits. At March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010, other deposits consist of supplier deposits and deposits
made on silicon supply contracts.
(ii)

10. PRoPeRty, PlANt AND eQuIPMeNt
land
Cost:
Balance, at April 1, 2010
$
Additions
Disposals
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Exchange and other adjustments
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations
Balance, at March 31, 2011
$
Additions
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2012
$
Depreciation and impairment:
Balance, at April 1, 2010
$
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Impairment charges
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations
Balance, at March 31, 2011
$
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2012
$

65

19,043
2,034
(625)
1,702
(54)
(785)
21,315
–
(1,148)
(21)
20,146

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Buildings and
leaseholds
$

$

$

$

$

$

Production
equipment

100,728
16,635
(1,014)
5,616
1,154
(29,980)
93,139
581
(5,709)
1,075
89,086

$

(40,981)
(7,049)
508
(497)
(20,572)
29,458
(39,133)
(3,450)
1,948
(239)
(40,874)

$

$

$

$

$

other
equipment

133,520
4,568
(9,642)
1,680
1,607
(119,011)
12,722
413
(390)
290
13,035

$

(69,952)
(10,907)
8,458
(1,691)
(49,949)
115,686
(8,355)
(1,012)
343
(1,127)
(10,151)

$

$

$

$

$

total

37,999
8,853
(1,156)
1,092
399
(20,562)
26,625
3,812
(5,230)
(975)
24,232

$ 291,290
32,090
(12,437)
10,090
3,106
(170,338)
$ 153,801
4,806
(12,477)
369
$ 146,499

(19,810)
(1,919)
1,102
(1,264)
(204)
2,199
(19,896)
(2,170)
5,102
370
(16,594)

$ (130,743)
(19,875)
10,068
(3,452)
(70,725)
147,343
$ (67,384)
(6,632)
7,393
(996)
$ (67,619)
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Note 10 (continued)
Net book value:
At March 31, 2012
At March 31, 2011
At April 1, 2010

$
$
$

20,146
21,315
19,043

$
$
$

48,212
54,006
59,747

$
$
$

2,884
4,367
63,568

$
$
$

7,638
6,729
18,189

$ 78,880
$ 86,417
$ 160,547

Included in other equipment as at March 31, 2012 is $284 (March 31, 2011 - $726) of assets which are under construction
and have not been depreciated.
11. INVeStMeNt PRoPeRty
Balance, at April 1
Foreign exchange adjustment
Balance, at March 31

$
$

2012
3,917
(125)
3,792

$
$

2011
3,910
7
3,917

The estimated fair value of the Company’s investment property at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011, and April 1, 2010
approximates its carrying value, based on comparable market data for similar properties. The investment property is a plot
of vacant land which does not earn any rental income nor incurs any direct operating expenses, including repairs and
maintenance.
12. INtANgIBle ASSetS

Development
projects
Cost:
Balance, at April 1, 2010
Additions
Disposals
Acquisition of subsidiary
Exchange and other adjustments
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued
operations
Balance, at March 31, 2011
Additions
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2012

66

$

Computer
software,
licenses
Customer
and other technology relationships

4,340
2
(245)
–
(73)

$ 14,736
2,339
(291)
841
372

$

(1,065)
2,959
–
–
–
$ 2,959

(5,040)
$ 12,957
2,708
(731)
640
$ 15,574

–
$ 10,092
–
–
(278)
$ 9,814

$

–
–
–
9,640
452

$

–
–
–
14,681
844

–
$ 15,525
–
–
(383)
$ 15,142

Brands
$

–
–
–
4,370
299

–
4,669
–
–
(131)
$ 4,538
$

total
$ 19,076
2,341
(536)
29,532
1,894
(6,105)
$ 46,202
2,708
(731)
(152)
$ 48,027
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Note 12 (continued)

Development
projects

Computer
software,
licenses
Customer
and other technology relationships

Brands

Amortization:
Balance, at April 1, 2010
Amortization
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued
operations
Balance, at March 31, 2011
Amortization
Disposals
Exchange and other adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2012

$ (3,318)
(396)
245
2

$ (10,347)
(1,396)
291
(267)

$

1,064
$ (2,403)
(329)
–
–
$ (2,732)

1,872
$ (9,847)
(1,173)
731
118
$ (10,171)

–
(917)
(1,118)
–
54
$ (1,981)

–
(1,899)
(2,710)
–
107
$ (4,502)

$

Net book value:
At March 31, 2012
At March 31, 2011
At April 1, 2010

$
$
$

$ 5,403
$
3,110
$ 4,389

$
$
$

$ 10,640
$ 13,626
$
–

$ 4,538
$ 4,669
$
–

227
556
1,022

–
(903)
–
(14)

$

7,833
9,175
–

$

–
(1,871)
–
(28)

$

$

$

total

–
–
–
–

$ (13,665)
(4,566)
536
(307)

–
–
–
–
–
–

2,936
$ (15,066)
(5,330)
731
279
$ (19,386)

$ 28,641
$ 31,136
$
5,411

Research and development costs that are not eligible for capitalization have been expensed and are recognized in cost of
revenues.
Intangible assets with indeﬁnite useful lives, primarily brands, were assessed at each reporting date to determine
indications of impairment. As at March 31, 2012, March 31, 2011 and April 1, 2010 there was no impairment in continuing
operations.
13. gooDWIll
The carrying amount of goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to a group of cash-generating
units (“CGU”), which combines to form a single operating segment being Automation Systems Group, as follows:
March 31
2012
$
58,320

Automation Systems Group
(i)

$

March 31
2011
58,447

$

April 1
2010
34,350(i)

Includes amounts subsequently reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

Balance at April 1
Acqusition – Sortimat
Acquistion – ATW
Foreign exchange
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations
Balance at March 31

67

$

note 7
$

2012
58,447
–
(164)
37
–
58,320

$

$

2011
34,350
23,684
6,126
(564)
(5,149)
58,447
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Note 13 (continued)
The Company performed the annual impairment test of goodwill as at March 31, 2012. The recoverable amount of the
group of CGU’s is determined based on fair value less costs to sell using a capitalized EBITDA approach. This approach
requires management to estimate maintainable future EBITDA and capitalize this amount by rates of return which
incorporate the speciﬁc risks and opportunities facing the business. EBITDA includes net income from continuing
operations less income taxes, net ﬁnance charges, depreciation and amortization.
In determining a maintainable future EBITDA, the historical operating results for the ﬁve years ended March 31, 2012 were
compared to the budgeted results for the year ending March 31, 2013, as presented to and approved by the Board of
Directors. Non-recurring and unusual items have been adjusted in order to normalize past EBITDA. Management selected
capitalization rates in the range of 12.5% to 8.3% for the calculation of the reasonable range of capitalized EBITDA. As a
result of the analysis, management did not identify impairment for this group of CGU’s.
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the group of CGU’s.
14. FINANCIAl INStRuMeNtS
(i) Categories of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities:
The carrying values of the Company’s ﬁnancial instruments are classiﬁed into the following categories:

Fair value through proﬁt or loss
Derivatives classiﬁed as held-for-trading(i) – loss

March 31
2012
$
277

Derivatives designated as effective hedges – measured at fair value
Derivatives designated as cash ﬂow hedges(i) – gain

$

Loans, borrowings and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Bank indebtedness

$

$
Available-for-sale
Portfolio investments
Other ﬁnancial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt

165

96,229
80,073
(434)
175,868

$

March 31
2011
1,657

$

April 1
2010
2,205

$

1,718

$

2,996

$

211,786
81,741
(26,034)
267,493

$

$

117,119
67,216
(4,274)
180,061

$

$

–

$

1,958

$

3,602

$

103,010
263
2,262
105,535

$

89,552
259
3,322
93,133

$

78,261
10,830
4,420
93,511

$

$

$

(i)
Derivative ﬁnancial instruments in a gain position are included in deposits and prepaid assets on the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position while
derivative ﬁnancial instruments in a loss position are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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Note 14 (continued)
(ii) Fair value measurements:
The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as at March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to
determine such fair value:

Carrying
Value
Assets
Bank indebtedness
Derivatives classiﬁed as
held for trading
Derivatives designated as
cash ﬂow hedges

$

(434)

level 1
$

$

–

$

–

$

(434)

–

(277)

–

(277)

165

–

165

–

165

Level 3

2011
Fair Value
Total

(4,274)

Level 1
$

(4,274)

Level 2
$

–

$

–

$

(4,274)

(1,657)

–

(1,657)

–

(1,657)

1,718

–

1,718

–

1,718

Level 3

2010
Fair Value
Total

Carrying
Value
Assets
Bank indebtedness
Derivatives classiﬁed as
held for trading
Derivatives designated as
cash ﬂow hedges

$

level 3

(277)

Carrying
Value
Assets
Bank indebtedness
Derivatives classiﬁed as
held for trading
Derivatives designated as
cash ﬂow hedges

(434)

level 2

2012
Fair Value
total

$ (26,034)

Level 1
$ (26,034)

Level 2
$

–

$

–

$ (26,034)

(2,205)

–

(2,205)

–

(2,205)

2,996

–

2,996

–

2,996

The estimated fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate their respective carrying values due to the short period to maturity. The estimated fair value
of long-term debt approximates the carrying value due to interest rates approximating current market values. Derivative
ﬁnancial instruments are carried at fair value determined by reference to quoted bid or asking prices, as appropriate, in
active markets at period-end dates. The derivative contract counterparties are highly rated multinational ﬁnancial
institutions.
During the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements.
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Note 14 (continued)
Derivative ﬁnancial instruments
The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts to manage foreign currency exposure. Forward foreign exchange
contracts that are not designated in hedging relationships are classiﬁed as held-for-trading, with changes in fair value
recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income. During the year
ended March 31, 2012, the fair value of derivative ﬁnancial assets classiﬁed as held-for-trading and included in deposits,
prepaid and other assets decreased by $357 (decreased by $1,768 during the year ended March 31, 2011) and the fair value
of derivative ﬁnancial liabilities classiﬁed as held-for-trading and included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
increased by $1,737 during the year ended March 31, 2012 (decreased by $2,093 during the year ended March 31, 2011).
Cash ﬂow hedges
During the year ended March 31, 2012 there was no unrealized gain or loss recognized in selling, general and administrative
expenses for the ineffective portion of cash ﬂow hedges (unrealized gain of $nil during the year ended March 31, 2011).
After-tax unrealized gains of $176 and after-tax unrealized loss of $1 are included in accumulated other comprehensive
income at March 31, 2012 and are expected to be reclassiﬁed to income over the next 12 months when the revenue and
purchases are recorded (unrealized gains of $1,236 and unrealized losses of $25 at March 31, 2011).
The following table summarizes the Company’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies under forward foreign
exchange contracts as at March 31, 2012:

Currency sold
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
Euros
Euros
Euros
Euros
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars
Chinese Renminbi
Swiss francs

Currency bought
Canadian dollars
Euros
Singapore dollars
Singapore dollars
Swiss francs
Canadian dollars
U.S. dollars
U.S. dollars
Japanese yen
Canadian dollars
Canadian dollars

Notional
amount sold
56,500
151
2,610
65
2,950
42,920
7,528
1,807
642
70,350
2,500

Weighted
average rate
1.0053
0.7461
1.2614
1.6580
1.2211
1.3256
1.3067
0.9959
83.600
0.1578
1.0917

(iii) Risks arising from ﬁnancial instruments and risk management
The Company is exposed to ﬁnancial risks that may potentially impact its operating results including market risks (foreign
exchange rate, interest rate and other market price risks); credit risk; and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of ﬁnancial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Company’s ﬁnancial performance. The Company uses derivative ﬁnancial instruments to mitigate exposure to
ﬂuctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not enter into derivative ﬁnancial agreements for speculative
purposes.
Currency risk
The Company transacts business in multiple currencies, the most signiﬁcant of which are the Canadian dollar, the U.S.
dollar, and the Euro. As a result, the Company has foreign currency exposure with respect to items denominated in foreign
currencies. The types of foreign exchange risk can be categorized as follows:
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Note 14 (continued)
Translation exposure
Assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates.
Unrealized translation gains and losses are deferred and included in accumulated other comprehensive income. The
cumulative currency translation adjustments are recognized in income when there has been a reduction in the net
investment in the foreign operations.
Foreign currency based earnings are translated into Canadian dollars each period at prevailing rates. As a result,
ﬂuctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to these other currencies will impact reported net income. Foreign
currency risks arising from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into the Company’s functional
currency are generally not hedged; however, the Company may decide to hedge this risk under certain circumstances.
The Company has assessed the net foreign currency exposure of operations relative to their own functional currency.
A ﬂuctuation of +/- 5% in the Euro and US dollar, provided as an indicative range in a volatile currency environment, would,
everything else being equal, have an effect on accumulated other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2012
of approximately +/- $2,188 and $6,497 respectively (2011 +/- $6,818 and $5,325) and on income from continuing
operations before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2012 of approximately +/- $1,705 and $1,709 respectively
(2011 +/- $287 and $1,270).
Transaction exposure
The Company generates signiﬁcant revenues in foreign currencies, primarily U.S. dollars, which exceed the natural hedge
provided by purchases of goods and services in those currencies. In order to manage this net foreign currency exposure in
subsidiaries which do not have the U.S. dollar as the functional currency, the Company enters into forward foreign exchange
contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts are estimated based on existing customer
contracts on hand or anticipated, current conditions in the Company’s markets and the Company’s past experience. As
such, there is not a material transaction exposure.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of ﬁnancial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a ﬁnancial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of accounts
receivable and derivative ﬁnancial instruments. The carrying values of these assets represent management’s assessment
of the associated maximum exposure to such credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s trade accounts receivable are
due from customers in a variety of industries and, as such, are subject to normal credit risks from their respective
industries. The Company regularly monitors customers for changes in credit risk. The Company does not believe that any
single industry or geographic region represents signiﬁcant credit risk. Credit risk concentration with respect to trade
receivables is mitigated by the Company’s client base being primarily large, multinational customers and through insurance
purchased by the Company.

Trade receivables – aged by due date
Current
1 – 30 days
31 – 60 days
61 – 90 days
Over 90 days
Total

71

March 31
2012
$
59,278
14,236
2,988
1,362
6,261
$
84,125

$

$

March 31
2011
50,575
10,390
1,034
2,982
5,257
70,238

$

$

April 1
2010
66,951
5,898
2,178
1,252
10,487
86,766
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Note 14 (continued)
The movement in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts for the year ended March 31, 2012 was as follows:

Balance at April 1
Provisions and revisions
Foreign exchange
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations
Balance at March 31

2012
3,054
1,471
140
–
4,665

$

$

$

$

2011
8,778
(241)
5
(5,488)
3,054

The Company minimizes credit risk associated with derivative ﬁnancial instruments by only entering into derivative
transactions with highly rated, multinational ﬁnancial institutions, in order to reduce the risk of counterparty default.
liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with ﬁnancial
liabilities. As at March 31, 2012, the Company was holding cash and cash equivalents of $96,229 and had unutilized lines of
credit of $51,725. During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company extended its existing primary credit facility (the
“Credit Agreement”) until September 30, 2012, as described in note 17 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. The
Company expects that continued cash ﬂows from operations in ﬁscal 2013, together with cash and cash equivalents on
hand and available credit facilities, will be more than sufficient to fund its requirements for investments in working capital,
property, plant and equipment and strategic investments including some potential acquisitions.
The Company’s accounts payable primarily have contractual maturities of less than 90 days and the contractual cash ﬂows
equal their carrying value. The Company’s long-term debt obligations and scheduled interest payments are presented in
note 17 to the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
Interest rate risk
In relation to its debt ﬁnancing, the Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may impact the Company’s
borrowing costs. Floating rate debt exposes the Company to ﬂuctuations in short-term interest rates. As at March 31, 2012,
$436 or 15% (March 31, 2011 – $42,869 or 75%) of the Company’s total debt is subject to movements in ﬂoating interest
rates. A +/- 1% change in interest rates in effect for the ﬁscal year would, all things being equal, have an impact of +/- $4 on
loss from operations before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2012 (March 31, 2011 – $429).
15. PRoVISIoNS
Balance, at April 1, 2010
Provisions made during the period
Provisions reversed during the period
Provisions used during the period
Exchange adjustments
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations
Balance, at March 31, 2011
Provisions made
Provisions reversed
Provisions used
Exchange adjustments
Balance, at March 31, 2012
72

Warranty Restructuring
$ 10,137
$ 2,190
17,409
14,476
(1,734)
–
(9,302)
(5,800)
63
139
(10,307)
(9,023)
$ 6,266
$ 1,982
6,665
31
(2,655)
(205)
(2,133)
(1,303)
12
25
$ 8,155
$
530

other
3,112
3,085
(2,473)
(2,804)
(4)
–
$
916
3,971
(75)
(3,806)
5
$
1,011
$

total
$ 15,439
34,970
(4,207)
(17,906)
198
(19,330)
$ 9,164
10,667
(2,935)
(7,242)
42
$ 9,696
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Note 15 (continued)
Disclosed as:

Current
Non-current

March 31
2012
$
9,696
–
$
9,696

$
$

March 31
2011
9,002
162
9,164

$
$

April 1
2010
11,279
4,160
15,439

Warranty provisions
Warranty provisions are related to sales of products and are based on experience reﬂecting statistical trends of warranty
costs.
Restructuring
Restructuring charges are recognized in the period incurred and when the criteria for provisions are fulﬁlled. Termination
beneﬁts are recognized as a liability and an expense when the Company is demonstrably committed through a formal
restructuring plan.
16. eMPloyee BeNeFItS
The Company operates pension plans for certain of its employees through deﬁned contribution plans and deﬁned beneﬁt
plans. The costs associated with deﬁned contribution plans are expensed as incurred. The most recent actuarial valuations
of the deﬁned beneﬁt plans were completed as at March 31, 2012. The next valuations are scheduled to be as at March 31,
2013. The changes in the fair value of assets, the employee beneﬁt obligation, and the funded status:
March 31
2012
Accrued beneﬁt obligation:
Opening balance
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Interest cost
Service cost
Assumption changes
Contributions
Beneﬁts paid
Insurance premiums
Foreign exchange
Reclassiﬁed as discontinued operations
Accrued beneﬁt obligation, Ending balance
Plan assets:
Opening balance
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Expected return on plan assets
Net actuarial gain (loss)
Company contributions
Employee contributions
Beneﬁts paid
Insurance premiums
Foreign exchange
Plan assets, Ending balance

$

$

$

12,961
–
549
1,015
446
312
(708)
(205)
346
–
14,716

March 31
2011
$

$

9,827
2,121
402
693
162
264
(344)
(174)
936
(926)
12,961

$

$

7,628
–
273
150
603
312
(654)
(205)
269
8,376

$

5,722
1,012
161
(11)
397
264
(310)
(174)
567
7,628

employee beneﬁts liability

$

6,340

$

5,333
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Note 16 (continued)
The signiﬁcant weighted average annual actuarial assumptions used in measuring the accrued beneﬁt obligation were:

Discount Rate
Expected rate of return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

March 31
2012
3.6%
1.0%
2.1%

March 31
2011
4.2%
1.1%
2.1%

March 31
2012
9.9%
49.3%
18.4%
22.4%

March 31
2011
10.0%
49.9%
18.6%
21.5%

March 31
2012

March 31
2011

The weighted average allocations of plan assets were:

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real Estate
Other
No plan assets were directly invested in the Company’s securities.
The net employee beneﬁts expense included the following components:

Deﬁned beneﬁt plans
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Deﬁned contribution plans
Net employee beneﬁts expense

$

$

1,015
549
(191)
1,373
1,988
3,361

$

$

693
402
(161)
934
1,786
2,720

The Company expects to contribute $911 to its deﬁned beneﬁt plans during the year ended March 31, 2013.
The cumulative actuarial losses, net of income taxes, recognized in other comprehensive income as at March 31, 2012 was
$324 (March 31, 2011 - $122).
17. BANK INDeBteDNeSS, oBlIgAtIoNS uNDeR FINANCe leASeS AND loNg-teRM DeBt
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company and its lender agreed to extend its primary credit facility (the “Credit
Agreement”) until September 30, 2012. The Company’s primary credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”) provides total
credit facilities of up to $95,000, comprised of an operating credit facility of $65,000 and a letter of credit facility of up to
$30,000 for certain purposes. The operating credit facility is subject to restrictions regarding the extent to which the
outstanding funds advanced under the facility can be used to fund certain subsidiaries of the Company. The Credit
Agreement, which is secured by the assets, including real estate, of the Company’s North American legal entities and a
pledge of shares and guarantees from certain of the Company’s legal entities, is repayable in full on September 30, 2012.
The operating credit facility is available in Canadian dollars by way of prime rate advances, letters of credit for certain
purposes and/or bankers’ acceptances and in U.S. dollars by way of base rate advances and/or LIBOR advances. The
interest rates applicable to the operating credit facility are determined based on certain ﬁnancial ratios. For prime rate
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Note 17 (continued)
advances and base rate advances, the interest rate is equal to the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s U.S. dollar base rate in
Canada, respectively, plus 0.90% to 2.40%. For bankers’ acceptances and LIBOR advances, the interest rate is equal to the
bankers’ acceptance fee or the LIBOR, respectively, plus 1.90% to 3.40%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a fee for usage of the $30,000 letter of credit facility which ranges from
0.80% to 1.90%.
Under the Credit Agreement, the Company pays a standby fee on the unadvanced portions of the amounts available for
advance or draw-down under the credit facilities at rates ranging from 0.475% to 0.850%.
The Credit Agreement is subject to debt leverage tests, a current ratio test and an interest coverage test. Under the terms
of the Credit Agreement, the Company is restricted from encumbering any assets with certain permitted exceptions. The
Credit Agreement also limits advances to subsidiaries and partially restricts the Company from repurchasing its common
shares, paying dividends and from acquiring and disposing of certain assets.
As at March 31, 2012, the Company had issued letters of credit in the amount of $16,956 under the operating credit facility
(March 31, 2011 - $5,619) and $30,004 under the letter of credit facility (March 31, 2011 - $nil).
The Company has additional credit facilities available of $9,891 (6,117 Euro, 33,000 Indian Rupees and 1,000 Swiss Francs).
The total amount outstanding on these facilities is $2,959 (March 31, 2011 - $7,855), of which $434 is classiﬁed as bank
indebtedness and $2,525 is classiﬁed as long-term debt. The interest rates applicable to the credit facilities range from
2.8% to 14.8% per annum. A portion of the long-term debt is secured by certain assets of the Company. The 1,000 Swiss
Francs and 33,000 Indian Rupees credit facilities are secured by letters of credit under the primary credit facility.
(i) Bank indebtedness

Photowatt International S.A.S.
Other facilities
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations

March 31
2012
$
–
434
–
$
434

$

$

March 31
2011
548
4,274
(548)
4,274

$

$

April 1
2010
26,034
–
–
26,034

(ii) long-term debt

PV Alliance
Photowatt International S.A.S.
Other facilities
Reclassiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations
Less: current portion

March 31
2012
$
–
–
2,525
–
2,525
263
$
2,262

$

$

March 31
2011
8,308
19,326
3,581
(27,634)
3,581
259
3,322

$

$

April 1
2010
7,589
7,661
–
–
15,250
10,830
4,420

Scheduled principal repayments and interest payments on long-term debt from continuing operations as at March 31, 2012
are as follows:
Principal
Interest
2013
$
263
$
110
2014
270
98
2015
278
86
2016
286
85
2017
258
74
Thereafter
1,170
206
$ 2,525
$
659
75
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Note 17 (continued)
(iii) obligations under ﬁnance leases
The Company has entered into ﬁnance lease agreements to lease production equipment for the Solar segment. The
following balances are classiﬁed as associated with discontinued operations as at March 31, 2011:

Future minimum lease payments
Less: interest charges
Present value of minimum lease payments – note 7
Less: current portion

March 31
2012
$
–
–
–
–
$
–

$

$

March 31
2011
22,638
1,411
21,227
–
21,227

$

$

April 1
2010
25,767
2,956
22,811
4,393
18,418

18. ShARe CAPItAl
Authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares, without par value, for unlimited
consideration. The changes in the common shares issued and outstanding during the periods presented were as follows:

Balance, at April 1, 2010
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2011
Exercise of stock options
Balance, at March 31, 2012

76

Number of
common shares
87,278,155
11,000
87,289,155
150,600
87,439,755

$
$
$

Share
capital
481,848
60
481,908
1,191
483,099
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19. tAXAtIoN
(i) Reconciliation of income taxes: Income tax expense differs from the amounts which would be obtained by applying
the combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate to earnings before income taxes and non-controlling
interest. These differences result from the following items:
For the year ended March 31
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and
non-controlling interest
Combined Canadian basic federal and provincial income tax rate
Income tax expense based on combined Canadian basic federal and
provincial income tax rate

2012

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Adjustments in respect to current income tax of previous periods
Non-taxable income net of non-deductible expenses
Income (loss) taxed at different rates and statutory rate changes
Manufacturing and processing allowance and all other items
At the effective income tax rate of 25% (2011 – 19%)

2011

$

58,685
27.83%

$

34,424
30.17%

$

16,332

$

10,386

$

(383)
(2,337)
1,879
(821)
14,670

$

(202)
2,398
(3,805)
(2,212)
6,565

Income tax expense reported in the income statement:
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense

$
$

11,688
2,982
14,670

$
$

4,103
2,462
6,565

Deferred tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity during the year:
Net loss on revaluation of cash ﬂow hedges
Other items recognized through equity
Recognition of deferred tax asset upon acquisition
Income tax charged directly to equity

$

$

(424)
(82)
–
(506)

$

$

(542)
–
(951)
(1,493)

(ii) Components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities: Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences
between accounting and tax basis of asset and liabilities. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the
following:

Accounting income not currently taxable
Investment tax credits taxable in future years when utilized
Loss available for offset against future taxable income
Property, plant and equipment
Scientiﬁc research and experimental development
expenditures available for offset against future taxable income
Other
Net deferred tax asset

77

March 31
2012
$
(11,925)
(5,704)
584
1,903

$

23,202
6,421
14,481

$

$

March 31
2011
(17,454)
(5,494)
760
2,816
28,886
7,325
16,839

$

$

April 1
2010
(17,581)
(5,605)
6,295
2,505
32,736
5,336
23,686
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Note 19 (continued)
Presented as:
Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability
Net deferred tax asset

March 31
2012
$
15,544
(1,063)
$
14,481

$
$

March 31
2011
16,839
–
16,839

$
$

April 1
2010
23,686
–
23,686

(iii) unrecognized deferred tax assets: Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items
(gross amount):
March 31
March 31
2012
2011
Deductible temporary differences
$
2,940
$
1,050
Loss available for offset against future taxable income
72,942
21,685
$
75,882
$
22,735
loss carryforwards: As at March 31, 2012, the Company has the following net operating loss carryforwards which are
scheduled to expire in the following years:
Year of expiry
2013 - 2017
2018 - 2022
2023 - 2027
2028 - 2032
No expiry

Non-Canadian
$
3,169
2,695
4,028
286
88,386
$
98,564

Canadian
1,078
–
7,828
15,942
–
$
24,848

$

In addition, the Company has USA Federal and State capital loss carryforwards of US$13,423 (March 31, 2011 – US$2,135)
and Canadian capital loss carryforwards of $294,999 (March 31, 2011 – $14,535) which do not expire.
Investment tax Credits: As at March 31, 2012, the Company has investment tax credits available to be applied against
future taxes payable in Canada of approximately $36,940 and in foreign jurisdictions of approximately $3,240. The
investment tax credits are scheduled to expire as follows:
gross ItC
Year of expiry
balance
2013 - 2017
$
564
2018 - 2022
508
2023 - 2027
17,186
2028 - 2032
21,728
No expiry
194
$
40,180
The beneﬁt of $26,087 (March 31, 2011 – $20,749 and April 1, 2010 – $20,878) of these investment tax credits have been
recognized in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. Unrecognized investment tax credits are scheduled to expire between
2028 and 2032.
(iv) The Company has determined that undistributed proﬁts of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.
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Note 19 (continued)
(v) There are temporary differences of $3,159 associated with investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax liability
has been recognized.
(vi) There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of dividends in either 2012 or 2011 by the Company to
its shareholders.
20. StoCK-BASeD CoMPeNSAtIoN
employee Share Purchase Plan: Under the terms of the Company’s Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying employees
of the Company may set aside funds through payroll deductions for an amount up to a maximum of 10% of their base
salary or $10,000 in any one calendar year. Subject to the member not making withdrawals from the plan, the Company
makes contributions to the plan equal to 20% of a member’s contribution to the plan during the year, up to a maximum of
1% of the member’s salary or $2,000. Shares for the plan may be issued from treasury or purchased in the market as
determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. During the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, no shares
were issued from treasury related to the plan.
Deferred Stock unit Plan: The Company offers a Deferred Stock Unit Plan ("DSU Plan") for members of the Board of
Directors. Under the DSU Plan, each non-employee director may elect to receive his or her annual compensation in the
form of notional common shares of the Company called deferred stock units ("DSUs"). The issue and redemption prices of
each DSU are based on an average trading price of the Company’s common shares for the ﬁve trading days prior to
issuance or redemption. Under the terms of the DSU Plan, directors are not entitled to convert DSUs into cash until
retirement from the Board of Directors. The value of each DSU, when converted to cash, will be equal to the market value of
a common share of the Company at the time the conversion takes place. At March 31, 2012, the value of the outstanding
liability related to the DSUs was $2,081 (2011 – $1,239). The DSU liability is revalued quarterly based on the change in the
Company’s stock price. The change in the value of the DSU liability is included in the consolidated statements of income in
the period of the change.
Stock option Plan: The Company uses a stock option plan to attract and retain key employees, officers and directors.
Under the Company’s 1995 Stock Option plan (the “1995 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 5,991,839
common shares for issuance, with the maximum reserved for issuance to any one person at 5% of the common shares
outstanding at the time of the grant. Time vested stock options vest over four or ﬁve year periods. Performance-based
stock options vest based on the Company’s stock trading at or above a threshold for a speciﬁed number of minimum
trading days in a ﬁscal quarter. For time vested stock options, the exercise price is the price of the Company’s common
shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for the day prior to the date of the grant. For performance-based stock
options the exercise price is either the price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange at closing for
the day prior to the date of the grant or the ﬁve-day volume weighted average price of the Company’s common shares on
the Toronto Stock Exchange prior to the date of the grant. Options granted under the 1995 Plan may be exercised during
periods not exceeding seven or ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination upon the option holder
ceasing to be a director, officer or employee of the Company. Options issued under the 1995 Plan are non-transferable. Any
option granted which is cancelled or terminated for any reason prior to exercise is returned to the pool and becomes
available for future stock option grants. In the event that the option would otherwise expire during a restricted trading
period, the expiry date of the option is extended to the 10th business day following the date of expiry of such period. In
addition, the 1995 Plan restricts the grant of options to insiders that may be under the 1995 Plan.
Under the Company’s 2006 Stock Option plan (the “2006 Plan”), the shareholders have approved a maximum of 2,159,000
common shares for issuance. The terms of the 2006 Plan are identical to those of the 1995 plan, except that the maximum
number of common shares to be issued pursuant to the issue of options under the 2006 Plan is 2,159,000 shares.
As at March 31, 2012, there are a total of 1,541,018 (March 31, 2011 – 1,616,531) common shares remaining for future option
grants under both plans.
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Note 20 (continued)
Years ended March 31
Number of
stock
options
Stock options outstanding,
beginning of period
Granted
Exercised (i)
Forfeited/cancelled
Stock options outstanding,
end of period
Stock options exercisable,
end of period, time vested options
Stock options exercisable,
end of period, performance based options
(i)

2012
Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number of
stock
options

2011
Weighted
average
exercise
price

7,465,167
275,000
(150,600)
(198,487)

$

7.52
6.96
5.38
13.76

6,368,674
1,250,000
(11,000)
(142,507)

$

7.89
6.77
3.71
17.92

7,391,080

$

7.38

7,465,167

$

7.52

1,469,244

$

7.64

1,168,571

$

9.06

2,047,448

$

6.85

991,448

$

6.14

For the year ended March 31, 2012, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $8.26 (March 31, 2011 – $6.88).

As at March 31, 2012

Range of
exercise prices
$3.49 to 5.95
$5.96 to 7.59
$7.60 to 9.97
$9.98 to 18.61
$3.49 to 18.61

Number
outstanding
1,808,350
2,998,167
1,267,676
1,316,887
7,391,080

Stock options outstanding
Weighted
average
Weighted
remaining
average
contractual
exercise
life
price
3.07 years
$ 4.69
4.33 years
6.88
5.68 years
8.27
6.20 years
11.39
4.59 years
$ 7.38

Stock options exercisable

Number
exercisable
1,210,217
853,667
1,086,426
366,382
3,516,692

Weighted
average
exercise
price
$ 4.68
7.01
8.38
12.82
$ 7.23

The expense associated with the Company’s performance-based stock options is recognized in income over the estimated
assumed vesting period at the time the stock options are granted. Upon the Company’s stock price trading at or above a
stock price performance threshold for a speciﬁed minimum number of trading days, the options vest. When the
performance-based options vest, the Company is required to recognize all previously unrecognized expenses associated
with the vested stock options in the period in which they vest.
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Note 20 (continued)
As at March 31, 2012, the following expenses had not been recognized related to performance-based stock options:

Stock price
performance
threshold
$
9.49
10.41
10.50
12.41
13.08

Number of
options
outstanding
41,667
266,667
889,333
266,666
218,667

grant date
value per
option
$ 1.66
2.11
1.41
2.11
2.77

Weighted
average
remaining
vesting
period
2.7 years
0.5 years
1.5 years
1.4 years
0.8 years

Current
year
expense
(in ’000s)
$
12
124
217
103
123

Remaining
expense to
recognize
(in ’000s)
$ 32
53
318
139
100

The fair values of the Company’s stock options issued during the periods presented were estimated at the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions. Expected stock price
volatility was determined at the time of the grant by considering historical share price volatility. Expected stock option
grant life was determined at the time of the grant by considering the average of the grant vesting period and the grant
exercise period.
As at March 31
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected life
Number of stock options granted:
Time vested
Weighted average exercise price per option
Weighted average value per option:
Time vested

2012
2.07%
0%
55%
4.75 years

2011
2.47%
0%
57%
4.75 years

$

275,000
6.96

$

1,250,000
6.77

$

3.33

$

3.34

21. CoMMItMeNtS AND CoNtINgeNCIeS
The minimum operating lease payments related primarily to facilities and equipment, purchase obligations and other
obligations are as follows:
From continuing operations:

Due within one year
Due in one to ﬁve years
Due in over ﬁve years

operating
leases
$
3,232
8,457
3,925
$
15,614

Purchase
obligations
$
51,085
514
–
$
51,599

From discontinued operations:

Due within one year
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Purchase
obligations
$
1,023
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Note 21 (continued)
The Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements consist of purchase obligations, and various operating lease ﬁnancing
arrangements related primarily to facilities and equipment, which have been entered into in the normal course of business.
The Company’s purchase obligations consist primarily of materials purchase commitments.
In accordance with industry practice, the Company is liable to customers for obligations relating to contract completion and
timely delivery. In the normal conduct of its operations, the Company may provide bank guarantees as security for
advances received from customers pending delivery and contract performance. In addition, the Company may provide
bank guarantees as security on equipment under lease and on order. At March 31, 2012, the total value of outstanding bank
guarantees available under credit facilities was approximately $57,361 (March 31, 2011 – $31,916) from continuing
operations and was $nil (March 31, 2011 – $13,857) from discontinued operations.
In the normal course of operations, the Company is party to a number of lawsuits, claims and contingencies. Although it is
possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals have been made, the Company does not believe
that the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact on its consolidated ﬁnancial position.
22. SegMeNteD DISCloSuRe
Solar is currently classiﬁed as assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in the consolidated statements
of ﬁnancial position and as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. As a result, ATS’ continuing
operations are reported as one operating segment, ASG.
Geographic segmentation of revenues is determined based on the customer’s installation site. Non-current assets
represent property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that are attributable to individual geographic segments,
based on location of the respective operations.
March 31, 2012
Property, plant
Intangible
and equipment
assets
Canada
$
33,455
$
4,287
United States and Mexico
19,825
3,000
Europe
23,312
21,317
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
2,288
37
Total Company
$
78,880
$
28,641

Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
Total Company
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Property, plant
and equipment
$
34,805
19,840
29,266
2,506
$
86,417

March 31, 2011
Intangible
assets
$
2,194
3,602
25,302
38
$
31,136
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Note 22 (continued)
Property, plant
and equipment
$
37,104
15,252
105,853
2,338
$
160,547

Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
Total Company
Revenues from external customers for the years ended March 31
Canada
United States and Mexico
Europe
Asia – Paciﬁc and other
Total Company

$

$

2012
31,554
289,738
149,470
124,600
595,362

April 1, 2010
Intangible
assets
$
2,730
67
2,525
89
$
5,411

$

$

2011
25,695
221,612
122,053
115,899
485,259

For the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011, the Company did not have revenues from any single customer
which amounted to 10% or more of total consolidated revenues.
23. INteReSt IN JoINt VeNtuReS
During the year ended March 31, 2010, Ontario Solar entered into an agreement to establish Ontario Solar PV Fields Inc., a
joint venture. Ontario Solar PV Fields Inc. is a jointly-controlled enterprise and accordingly, the Company proportionately
consolidated its 50% share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the consolidated ﬁnancial statements. Ontario
Solar PV Fields Inc. is currently presented as assets and liabilities associated with discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position and as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income.
In ﬁscal 2008, Photowatt International S.A.S. entered into an agreement to establish PV Alliance, a joint venture. On
November 8, 2011, PWF was placed into a “recovery” proceeding (“redressement judiciaire”) under the supervision of a
court appointed trustee and therefore the Company ceased to consolidate PWF and PV Alliance after this date.
The following is a summary of the Company’s proportionate share of the joint ventures:

As at
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Long-term debt
Net assets

March 31
2012
$
8,742
–
–
(2,183)
–
–
$
6,559

$

$

March 31
2011
6,761
7,778
2,924
(6,515)
(4,914)
(3,394)
2,640

$

$

2012

April 1
2010
5,495
4,960
2,107
(6,130)
–
(4,419)
2,013

Years ended March 31
Statements of income (loss)
Net income (loss)

$
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2011
$

(900)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

24. Net FINANCe CoStS
Years ended March 31
Interest expense
Interest income

$
$

2012
1,859
(294)
1,565

$
$

2011
1,741
(684)
1,057

25. eARNINgS (loSS) PeR ShARe
Years ended March 31
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of stock option conversion
Diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding

2012
87,310,019
524,487
87,834,506

2011
87,280,846
368,120
87,648,966

For the year ended March 31, 2012, stock options to purchase 5,190,282 common shares are excluded from the weighted
average number of common shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive (5,266,150
common shares were excluded for the year ended March 31, 2011).
26. CAPItAl MANAgeMeNt:
The Company’s capital management framework is designed to ensure the Company has adequate liquidity, ﬁnancial
resources and borrowing capacity to allow ﬁnancial ﬂexibility and to provide an adequate return to shareholders. The
Company deﬁnes capital as the aggregate of equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income), bank
indebtedness, long-term debt and obligations under capital leases less cash and cash equivalents.
The Company monitors capital using the ratio of total debt to equity. Total debt includes bank indebtedness, and long-term
debt and obligations under capital leases as shown on the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position. Net debt consists
of cash and cash equivalents less total debt. Equity includes all components of equity, less accumulated other
comprehensive income. This is unchanged from the previous year. The Company also monitors an externally imposed
covenant of net debt to EBITDA of not greater than 3 to 1. EBITDA includes net income from continuing operations less
income taxes, net ﬁnance charges, depreciation and amortization. For the years ended March 31, 2012 and March 31, 2011,
the Company operated with a net debt to EBITDA ratio well below the covenant. The Company is prepared to increase the
total debt to equity ratio and net debt to EBITDA ratio if appropriate opportunities arise.
The capital management criteria can be illustrated as follows:

As at
Equity excluding accumulated other
comprehensive income
Long-term debt
Obligations under capital leases
Bank indebtedness
Cash and cash equivalents
Capital under management
Debt to equity ratio

March 31
2012
$

$

381,835
2,525
–
434
(96,229)
288,565
0.01:1

March 31
2011
$

$

436,323
3,581
–
4,274
(117,119)
327,059
0.02:1

April 1
2010
$

$

519,279
15,250
22,811
26,034
(211,786)
371,588
0.12:1

The Company is subject to minimum capital requirements relating to bank credit facilities and senior debentures. The
Company has complied with these minimum requirements during the year.
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27. RelAteD PARty DISCloSuRe
Transactions between each subsidiary and the subsidiaries and parent are eliminated on consolidation. The Company did
not have any material related party transactions with entities outside the consolidated group in the years ended March 31,
2012 and March 31, 2011. The remuneration of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and key management personnel is
determined by the Board on recommendation from the Human Resources Committee of the Board:

As at
Salaries and beneﬁts
Other non-equity incentive compensation
Stock-based compensation
Post-retirement beneﬁts
Total remuneration

March 31
2012
$
2,008
3,619
918
607
$
7,152

$

$

March 31
2011
1,985
2,242
2,103
574
6,904

28. tRANSItIoN to IFRS
The Company’s consolidated ﬁnancial statements were previously prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (“Canadian GAAP”). Canadian GAAP differs in some areas from IFRS. The comparative
ﬁgures were restated to reﬂect these adjustments. Certain information which is considered material to the understanding
of the Company’s transition to IFRS along with reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition from Canadian
GAAP to IFRS on equity, earnings and comprehensive income are included in this note.
The Company’s ﬁnancial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012 are the ﬁrst annual ﬁnancial statements that
comply with IFRS and these annual ﬁnancial statements were prepared as described in note 2 to the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements, including the application of IFRS 1. IFRS 1 requires an entity to adopt IFRS in its ﬁrst annual ﬁnancial
statements prepared under IFRS by making an explicit and unreserved statement in those ﬁnancial statements of
compliance with IFRS.
IFRS 1 also requires that comparative ﬁnancial information be provided. As a result, the ﬁrst date at which the Company
has applied IFRS was April 1, 2010 (the “transition date”). IFRS 1 requires ﬁrst-time adopters to retrospectively apply all
effective IFRS standards as of the reporting date, which for the Company will be March 31, 2011. However, it also provides
for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions for ﬁrst time IFRS adopters.
Initial elections upon adoption
Set forth below are the IFRS 1 applicable exemptions and exceptions applied in the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS.
IFRS exemption options
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1.

Business combinations – IFRS 1 provides the option to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively or
prospectively from the transition date. The Company has elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to business
combinations that occurred prior to its transition date and such business combinations have not been restated.
Any goodwill arising on such business combinations before the transition date has not been adjusted from the
carrying value previously determined under Canadian GAAP as a result of applying these exemptions.

2.

employee beneﬁts – IFRS 1 provides the option to recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses on pensions
and post-retirement beneﬁts directly through equity at the transition date. The Company has elected to take this
exemption and recognize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses in opening retained earnings at the transition date.
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Note 28 (continued)
3.

Currency translation differences – Retrospective application of IFRS would require the Company to determine
cumulative currency translation differences in accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, from a date a subsidiary or equity method investee was formed or acquired. IFRS 1 permits cumulative
translation gains and losses to be reset to zero at the transition date. The Company has elected to use the
exemption and record the adjustment on the transition date.

4.

Share-based payments – IFRS 2, Share-based Payments, encourages application of its provision to equity
instruments granted on or before November 7, 2002, but permits the application only to equity instruments
granted after November 7, 2002 that have not vested by the transition date. The Company has elected to use the
exemption provided under IFRS 1 and applied IFRS 2 for all equity instruments granted after November 7, 2002
that have not vested by April 1, 2010. As a result of the transition method elected, the Company reduced previously
recognized Canadian GAAP share based compensation expense.

5.

Borrowing costs – IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, requires an entity to capitalize the borrowing costs related to all
qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is on or after January 1, 2009. IFRS 1
provides an option to apply IAS 23 transition provisions at the later date of January 1, 2009 or the transition date.
The Company elected to apply IAS 23 prospectively from the transition date.

6.

Fair value or revaluation as deemed cost – IFRS 1 provides the option to measure an item of property, plant and
equipment at the transition date at its fair value and use that fair value as its deemed cost at that date. The Company
elected to use this exemption and has recorded certain of its properties at fair value as at the transition date.

IFRS Mandatory exceptions
Set forth below are the applicable IFRS 1 exceptions applied in the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS.
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1.

hedge accounting – Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the transition date to transactions
that satisfy the hedge accounting criteria in IAS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be designated
retrospectively and the supporting documentation cannot be created retrospectively. As a result, only hedging
relationships that satisﬁed the hedge accounting criteria as of its transition date are reﬂected as hedges in the
Company’s results under IFRS. Any derivatives not meeting the IAS 39 criteria for hedge accounting were fair
valued and recorded in the consolidated statements of ﬁnancial position as a non-hedging derivative ﬁnancial
instrument.

2.

estimates – Hindsight is not used to create or revise estimates. The estimates previously made by the Company
under Canadian GAAP were not revised for application of IFRS except where necessary to reﬂect any difference in
accounting policies.
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Note 28 (continued)
Reconciliations of Canadian GAAP to IFRS
IFRS 1 requires an entity to reconcile equity, net income, comprehensive income and cash ﬂows for prior periods. The
following represents the reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS for the respective periods noted for equity, net
income and comprehensive income:
Reconciliation of Equity
As at
Equity under Canadian GAAP
Differences increasing (decreasing) reported equity:
1. Employee beneﬁts
2. Revenues
3. Income taxes
4. Depreciation and amortization
5. Deemed cost adjustment
6. Business combinations
7. Provisions
8. Property, plant and equipment impairment
total equity under IFRS

Note
$
A
B
C
D
E
F
J
K
$

March 31
2011
509,089
(149)
144
1,272
(1,774)
(5,439)
(5,867)
(725)
(61,716)
434,835

$

April 1
2010
528,209

$

(27)
1,040
142
(1,368)
(5,645)
(1,011)
–
–
521,340

$

March 31
2011
(18,006)

$

(896)
1,128
(375)
127
(4,852)
(128)
(725)
(61,716)
(85,443)

$

March 31
2011
(21,601)

$

47
(122)
(67,437)
(89,113)

Reconciliation of Net Loss
Note
Net loss under Canadian GAAP
Differences in GAAP increasing (decreasing) reported income:
1. Revenues
2. Income taxes
3. Depreciation and amortization
4. Deemed cost adjustment
5. Business combinations
6. Stock-based compensation
7. Provisions
8. Property, plant and equipment impairment
Net loss under IFRS

B
C
D
E
F
G
J
K

Reconciliation of Comprehensive Loss
Note
Comprehensive loss under Canadian GAAP
Differences in GAAP decreasing reported comprehensive income:
Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustment
Actuarial losses on pension plans, net of tax
Change in net loss
Comprehensive loss under IFRS
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Note 28 (continued)
A.

Employee benefits: As stated in the section entitled, “IFRS exemption options,” the Company elected to recognize
all cumulative actuarial gains and losses that existed at the transition date in opening retained earnings for all of its
employee beneﬁt plans. Under Canadian GAAP, the employee beneﬁt amounts were presented with accounts
payable and accrued liabilities. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the period in which they occur in
other comprehensive income.

B.

Revenues: Construction contracts are speciﬁcally deﬁned under IFRS and require percentage-of-completion
revenue recognition. Additionally, service revenues are to be accounted for on a percentage-of-completion basis
under IFRS. All revenue contracts have been analyzed to ensure that appropriate revenue recognition criterion has
been applied. Revenues previously recognized using completed contract revenue recognition that are required to
be recognized under percentage-of-completion accounting under IFRS have been adjusted along with the
corresponding cost of revenues and inventory impacts.

C.

Income taxes: Income tax is recalculated based on differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. Income taxes
and equity also include an adjustment to tax effect the share issuance costs which should be reported in equity
under IFRS but are reported in income under Canadian GAAP.

D.

Depreciation and amortization: Under IFRS, the method of depreciation has been changed to the straight-line
method for all assets. Additionally, assets have been separated into their component parts and each part is
depreciated separately under IFRS.

e.

Deemed cost adjustment: As stated in the section entitled, “IFRS exemption options,” the Company has applied
the one-time adjustment to record certain property, plant and equipment and certain investment property at their
fair values at April 1, 2010. The carrying value of the property going forward is the fair value at the transition date.

F.

Business combinations: Acquisition related costs directly attributable to a business combination may be
capitalized to the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase price allocation under Canadian GAAP. Under
IFRS, with the exception of share issuance costs, these costs are to be expensed as incurred. Additionally,
restructuring costs included in the purchase price allocation under Canadian GAAP are expensed under IFRS.

g. Stock-based compensation: Equity based awards are expensed on a graded vesting basis with each tranche of
the grant considered a separate award with a different vesting date and a separate fair value. Under IFRS each
grant is separately accounted for whereas under Canadian GAAP the total fair value of the grant is recognized in
income and contributed surplus on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award. Under IFRS
forfeitures are determined based on management’s estimate of the number of awards expected to vest in the
future. This estimate reduces the stock-based compensation expense and contributed surplus over the vesting
period.
h. Cumulative translation adjustment: As stated in the section entitled, “IFRS exemption options,” the Company
has applied the one-time exemption to set the foreign currency cumulative translation adjustment to zero at
April 1, 2010.

88

ATS Automation Annual Report 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Note 28 (continued)
I.

Classification of Solar as “Discontinued Operations”: IFRS requires that an evaluation is made as to whether
non-current assets (or a disposal group) should be classiﬁed as “held for sale” or as “held for distribution to
owners” when speciﬁc criteria related to their sale or distribution are met. Canadian GAAP requires that noncurrent assets to be distributed to owners continue to be classiﬁed as held and used until disposed of. The
Company has determined that under IFRS, the planned separation of Solar met the criteria of non-current assets
associated with discontinued operations as of March 31, 2011 and therefore has reclassiﬁed this disposal group as
“associated with discontinued operations” as at March 31, 2011 and reclassiﬁed Solar’s operating results as
“discontinued operations” for the current and comparative periods presented in the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements.

J.

Provisions: Under IFRS restructuring costs are recognized as a provision when an obligation occurs as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outﬂow of resources will be required and a reliable estimate of the obligation can
be made, resulting in certain timing differences from Canadian GAAP.

K.

Property, plant and equipment impairment: Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment under
Canadian GAAP is based on a two-step approach when circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable. At March 31, 2011, under Canadian GAAP, indicators of impairment were identiﬁed in the
Company’s Photowatt division in France. The property, plant and equipment assets were therefore required to be
tested for impairment. The ﬁrst step of the impairment test conducted under Canadian GAAP used undiscounted
cash ﬂows projected over the life of the primary asset and compared them to the carrying value of the assets being
tested. The ﬁrst step of the impairment test completed as of March 31, 2011 under Canadian GAAP indicated that
the value of Photowatt’s property, plant and equipment in France was recoverable, and therefore the second step
to determine the amount of the impairment loss was not required.
IFRS requires a one-step impairment test for identifying and measuring impairment. This test requires a
comparison of the asset’s carrying value to the higher of its value in use or its fair value less costs to sell. IFRS tests
asset groups for impairment at the independent CGU level, which is the lowest grouping of assets that generates
independent cash inﬂows. For non-current assets, the Company has determined its CGU’s to be at the operating
division level. Under IFRS, the Company’s impairment test was carried out at the CGU level using a discounted
cash ﬂow model to determine the recoverable amount of the Photowatt CGU in France. A discount rate of 25% was
selected based on the risks speciﬁc to the solar industry and Photowatt International S.A.S.’s speciﬁc standing in
the industry. The fair value determined from the recoverable amount calculation was compared to the carrying
amount of the Photowatt International S.A.S. CGU, resulting in an impairment of the CGU’s non-current assets. As
a result, under IFRS, the Company recorded an impairment charge against its property, plant and equipment of
$61,716 in the fourth quarter of ﬁscal 2011.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Impact for 2011
The cash ﬂows used in investing activities decreased and the cash ﬂows provided by operating activities increased as the
acquisition related costs directly attributable to a business combination were expensed as incurred under IFRS. There are
no other material differences between the consolidated statement of cash ﬂows presented under IFRS and the
consolidated statement of cash ﬂows presented under previous Canadian GAAP.
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NeIl D. ARNolD (1, 2, 4)
Mr. Arnold has over 35 years of experience in public company ﬁnance and general management. Most recently, he served as Executive Chairman of
the Board of Directors of WHX Corp., a public holding company for primary industrial businesses. He also served as Group Finance Director of Lucas
Varity, PLC, a public company providing components and systems to the global aerospace and automotive industries with revenues in excess of
$7 billion. Prior to that Mr. Arnold was Chief Financial Officer of Varity Corporation (previously Massey-Ferguson Ltd.). He has served as a Director
of Lucas Varity, and WHX Corp. At present Mr. Arnold is a Director of Pembroke College Foundation of North America Inc. Mr. Arnold earned a B.A.
in Engineering Science from Pembroke College, Oxford University and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (UK).

ANthoNy CAPuto
Mr. Caputo is the Chief Executive Officer of ATS Automation Tooling Systems Inc. As an experienced senior executive he brings a solid track record
of over 25 years of delivering performance, growth and value creation in technology, manufacturing and service environments. Most recently
Mr. Caputo served as Corporate Vice-President, President and COO of L-3 Communications, and prior to that he was the President and CEO of
Spar Aerospace. Mr. Caputo holds a Bachelor of Technology in Engineering from Ryerson University and a Master of Science in Organizational
Development from Pepperdine University.

MIChAel e. MARtINo (2,3)
Mr. Martino is a Founder and Principal of Mason Capital Management LLC. Mr. Martino began his investment career at Oppenheimer & Company
where he was responsible for risk arbitrage research; he ended his tenure at Oppenheimer as Executive Director, Risk Arbitrage. He began his
business career at GE Capital Corporation where he held positions in information systems and business analysis. He was formerly a director of Spar
Aerospace Limited, a publicly traded aerospace company. Mr. Martino graduated from Fairﬁeld University with a degree in Political Science and
earned a Masters in Business Administration in Finance and International Business from New York University’s Stern School of Business.

DAVID l. MCAuSlAND (3,4)
Mr. McAusland, the Chairman of the Board, is a senior corporate strategist, advisor and lawyer who is a partner in the law ﬁrm McCarthy Tétrault.
Previously, Mr. McAusland was Executive Vice-President, Corporate Development and Chief Legal Officer of Alcan Inc. where he provided leadership
on its worldwide mergers, growth strategies, major transactions and capital investments. Mr. McAusland currently acts as director of Cogeco Inc.
/Cogeco Cable Inc., Cascades Inc., and Khan Resources Inc. He has, until recently, served as Chair of the Reform Implementation Council for the
Royal Canadian Mounted Police. Mr. McAusland is also involved with several not-for-proﬁt organizations: he is a Director of the Montreal General
Hospital Foundation and Chairman of the National Circus School Foundation. Mr. McAusland received his B.C.L. in 1976 and his LL.B. in 1977, both
from McGill University.

goRDoN e. PReSheR (1, 3, 4)
Mr. Presher is a uniquely qualiﬁed entrepreneur, possessing expertise in both the automation technology and solar industries. He is the Co-Founder,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Solar Sentry Corp., a seed-stage developer of innovative monitoring equipment for the solar energy
industry. Prior to Solar Sentry, Mr. Presher was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Ormec Systems Corp., a factory automation ﬁrm
specializing in precise motion control. He began his career as a controls engineer at Eastman Kodak Company. Mr. Presher holds a Bachelor of
Science in Physics and Math from Houghton College and a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from University of Rochester.

NeAle X. tRANguCCI (1, 2)
Mr. Trangucci has been an Officer of Mason Capital Management LLC since November 2005. During that time, he served as the CEO and Chairman
of Silicon Global Corporation. Prior to joining Mason, he was Chief Executive Officer of WHX Corp. Previously, Mr. Trangucci worked for Neuberger
Berman, and before that time spent eight years in workouts and bankruptcies with Continental Illinois Bank and Salomon Brothers. He has been a
Director of WHX, Wheeling-Pittsburgh Steel Corp. and Wheeling-Nisshin, Inc. Mr. Trangucci holds a Bachelor of Science from Bucknell University and
a Masters in International Affairs and Finance and Banking from Columbia University.

DARyl C.F. WIlSoN (2, 3)
Mr. Wilson is the President, CEO and Director of Hydrogenics Corporation, a Canadian public company and hydrogen technology provider. Prior to
joining Hydrogenics he was VP Manufacturing and Operations with Royal Group Technologies and Zenon Environmental Inc. Preceding that he
served on the senior management team of Toyota Motor Manufacturing Canada. Mr. Wilson has been National Chair of the Environmental Quality
Committee of the CMA. Mr. Wilson holds an MBA in Operations Management/Management Science from McMaster University; a Bachelor of
Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of Toronto; and has obtained a Chartered Director designation (C.C. Dir.).

(1)

Member of Audit and Finance Committee

(2)

Member of Human Resources Committee

(3)

Member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

(4)

Member of the Adhoc Committee – Solar Separation
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